815

Terminology and quantification of environmental heterogeneity in species-richness research

Anke Stein* and Holger Kreft

Biodiversity, Macroecology & Conservation Biogeography Group, University of Göttingen, Büsgenweg 1, 37077 Göttingen, Germany

ABSTRACT

Spatial environmental heterogeneity (EH) is an important driver of species diversity, and its influence on species richness has been analysed for numerous taxa, in diverse ecological settings, and over a large range of spatial scales. The variety and ambiguity of concepts and terminology, however, have hampered comparisons among studies. Based on a systematic literature survey of 192 studies including 1148 data points, we provide an overview of terms and measures related to EH, and the mechanisms that relate EH to species richness of plants and animals in terrestrial systems. We identify 165 different measures used to quantify EH, referred to by more than 350 measure names. We classify these measures according to their calculation method and subject area, finding that most studies have analysed heterogeneity in land cover, topography, and vegetation, whereas comparatively few studies have focused on climatic or soil EH. Overall, elevation range emerged as the most frequent measure in our dataset. We find that there is no consensus in the literature about terms (such as 'habitat diversity' or 'habitat complexity'), their meanings and associated quantification methods. More than 100 different terms have been used to denote EH, with largely imprecise delimitations. We reveal trends in use of terms and quantification with respect to spatial scales, study taxa, and locations. Finally, we discuss mechanisms involved in EH-richness relationships, differentiating between effects on species coexistence, persistence, and diversification. This review aims at guiding researchers in their selection of heterogeneity measures. At the same time, it shows the need for precise terminology and avoidance of ambiguous synonyms to enhance understanding and foster among-study comparisons and synthesis.

Key words: cross-taxon comparison, global study, habitat diversity, habitat structure, heterogeneity measures, landscape complexity, structural complexity, synonymy.

CONTENTS

Introduction	816
(1) Background: environmental heterogeneity in biodiversity research	816
(2) Concepts and terminology	816
(3) Aims of this review	817
Review of studies on EH-richness relationships	818
(1) Literature search and data basis	818
(2) Subject areas	819
(3) Quantitative description of studies	821
(a) Study locations	821
(b) Study taxa and subject areas	821
(c) Habitat types	821
(d) Spatial scales	822
(4) Terms for EH in the literature	822
(5) Quantification of EH	824
$\widetilde{(a)}$ Measures	824
(\vec{b}) Calculation methods	825
	Introduction (1) Background: environmental heterogeneity in biodiversity research (2) Concepts and terminology (3) Aims of this review Review of studies on EH-richness relationships (1) Literature search and data basis (2) Subject areas (3) Quantitative description of studies (a) Study locations (b) Study taxa and subject areas (c) Habitat types (d) Spatial scales (e) Quantification of EH (f) Quantification of EH (g) Measures (b) Calculation methods

* Address for correspondence (Tel: +49 (0)551 3910234; E-mail: astein@uni-goettingen.de).

	(6) Mechanisms driving EH-richness relationships	827
	(a) Species coexistence	827
	(b) Species persistence	829
	(c) Species diversification	829
	(7) Confounding factors	829
III.	Conclusions	830
IV.	Acknowledgements	831
V.	References	831
VI.	Supporting Information	836

I. INTRODUCTION

(1) Background: environmental heterogeneity in biodiversity research

The relationship between spatial environmental heterogeneity and species diversity is a central topic in ecology, evolution, and biogeography. Seminal research on birds (MacArthur & MacArthur, 1961), lizards (Pianka, 1967), and plants (Hamilton *et al.*, 1963; Johnson & Simberloff, 1974) already encompassed various aspects of heterogeneity and structure in the environment. For instance, MacArthur & MacArthur (1961) highlighted the importance of vegetation structure for local bird species diversity, and Williams (1964) pointed out that an increase in study area usually entails an increase in variety of environmental conditions and habitat types. Since then, numerous studies have investigated the influence of environmental heterogeneity on many different taxonomic groups in various aquatic and terrestrial systems.

The overarching ecological hypothesis is that spatial heterogeneity in abiotic or biotic conditions increases the available niche space and therefore allows more species to coexist (Currie, 1991; Tews et al., 2004). At larger spatiotemporal scales, environmental heterogeneity may affect diversification and extinction rates through isolation, specialization, and provision of refugia where populations persist during periods of climate change (Pianka, 1966; Cowling & Lombard, 2002; Durães & Loiselle, 2004; Kallimanis et al., 2010; Sandel et al., 2011). Although negative relationships between environmental heterogeneity and species diversity have also been reported (Tamme et al., 2010; Gazol et al., 2013; Laanisto et al., 2013), a recent global meta-analysis found the overall relationship to be positive across taxa and spatial scales, as predicted by ecological theory (Stein, Gerstner & Kreft, 2014).

Previous reviews of the relationship between environmental heterogeneity and species diversity often focused only on one selected aspect of heterogeneity and a restricted taxonomic group. For instance, Tews *et al.* (2004) studied the effect of vegetation heterogeneity on animal diversity. Lundholm (2009) and Tamme *et al.* (2010) in turn reviewed the relationship between abiotic heterogeneity and plant diversity at relatively small spatial scales. Here, we consider spatial heterogeneity in both abiotic and biotic environmental conditions, including studies across taxonomic groups and a range of spatial scales.

(2) Concepts and terminology

The ecological literature contains an astonishing number of different terms for environmental heterogeneity, with often undefined or even conflicting underlying concepts. Some authors have distinguished heterogeneity as the horizontal component of habitat variation from complexity as the vertical component (August, 1983; Grelle, 2003). Kolasa & Rollo (1991) argued against an explicit distinction of these two dimensions because heterogeneity can have more than two dimensions in space or time. These authors, however, differentiated between continuous and patchy heterogeneity, thus contrasting gradual from discrete changes in environmental conditions. Others have discriminated variability ('different values of a variable of one kind') from heterogeneity ('composition of parts of different kinds') (compare Kolasa & Rollo, 1991; Wagner, Wildi & Ewald, 2000). Ettema & Wardle (2002) defined variability as a general term for spatial changes and heterogeneity or patchiness as terms for changes involving spatial structure and aggregation. Nilsson, Bengtsson & As (1988) considered habitat heterogeneity to be one aspect of habitat variability, and habitat diversity to be a second aspect. By contrast, Li & Reynolds (1995) defined variability and complexity as components of heterogeneity, referring to quantitative versus qualitative descriptors of ecological properties. Several authors have emphasized a difference between variability within and between habitat types: while habitat diversity has often referred to the number of habitat types in a given area (i.e. between-habitat variability), habitat complexity or habitat heterogeneity have been used frequently to describe within-habitat variability (August, 1983; Nilsson et al., 1988; Heaney, 2001; Hortal et al., 2009; Table 1). These opposing concepts can be confusing, even more so because many authors have used terms such as (environmental/habitat) heterogeneity, diversity, complexity, structure, or variability synonymously or without a precise definition and delimitation (e.g. Johnson, 1975; Perfecto & Snelling, 1995; Durães & Loiselle, 2004; Ackerman, Trejo-Torres & Crespo-Chuy, 2007). It can therefore be difficult to determine whether terms used in different studies refer to the same concept or not (McCoy & Bell, 1991). Inconsistent terminology hampers the detection, understanding, comparison, and synthesis of studies. Literature searches necessarily remain incomplete: for instance, Tews et al. (2004) included 'habitat complexity' in their keyword search, whereas studies using the term 'complexity of habitat'

Environmental heterogeneity (EH)	Used here as an umbrella term for all kinds of spatial heterogeneity, complexity, diversity, structure, or variability in the environment. Although 'habitat diversity' is more common in the literature, we consider 'environmental heterogeneity' to be the most comprehensive term. First, 'habitat diversity' often refers to the diversity of different habitat types only. Second, 'environmental' can relate to all aspects of the environment, whereas 'habitat' has variable definitions (Triantis <i>et al.</i> , 2003).
EH subject areas	EH contains biotic and abiotic components that can be divided into five subject areas: land cover vegetation climate soil and topography
Land cover EH	Heterogeneity between habitats, including composition and configuration. Most often quantified as the number or Shannon diversity index of land cover (or habitat/vegetation) types.
Vegetation EH	Incorporates vegetation structure (e.g. foliage height diversity) and plant diversity (e.g. the number of vascular plant species).
Climatic EH	Heterogeneity in micro- to macroclimatic conditions, most often quantified as precipitation range.
Soil EH	Mostly quantified as the number of soil types, but can also relate, e.g. to variability in soil pH, cation content or soil compaction.
Topographic EH	Incorporates microtopographic structure to large-scale relief. Most often quantified as elevation range, the most frequent EH measure overall.
Habitat complexity	Usually refers to vegetation EH, as does 'habitat structure' and 'structural complexity'.
Habitat diversity	The most frequent term in the literature, most often related to the number of different land cover (or habitat/vegetation) types.
Habitat heterogeneity	The second most frequent term in the literature, which in contrast to 'habitat diversity' is thought by some authors to incorporate both within- and between-habitat variability (Nilsson <i>et al.</i> , 1988).
Landscape complexity	In contrast to 'habitat complexity' and 'habitat structure', 'landscape complexity' and 'landscape structure' usually refer to between-habitat heterogeneity, quantified as the Shannon diversity index of land cover types or percentage of forest area, for instance.

were missed. In addition to using variable terminology, studies have encompassed various quantification methods, taxonomic groups, geographic settings, and diverse study designs. This conceptual and methodological variability may obscure our understanding of the role and importance of environmental heterogeneity on species diversity.

(3) Aims of this review

Although the variety in quantification and the ambiguity in terminology of environmental heterogeneity are a recognized predicament, to our knowledge, no systematic overview of terms and quantification methods exists so far. To fill this gap, we systematically reviewed empirical studies on the relationship between spatial environmental heterogeneity and species richness of plants and animals in terrestrial systems. For reasons of clarity, we use the term 'environmental heterogeneity' sensu latu (from now on 'EH') as an umbrella term including all other related terms, meaning all aspects of spatial heterogeneity, complexity, diversity, structure, or variability in the environment (Table 1). Temporal heterogeneity has also received significant attention in the literature, but we do not treat it here, as it affects species richness through different mechanisms compared to spatial heterogeneity, related to stability and disturbance (Menge & Sutherland, 1976; Currie, 1991).

We distinguish between 'terms' used to signify EH in each study (e.g. 'environmental complexity' or 'habitat diversity') and 'measures' that were actually quantified as proxies of EH (Table 2). We aimed to reveal overarching trends in terms and measures across study systems and to review the different theories explaining heterogeneity-richness relationships. Compared with previous reviews, we concentrated on larger spatial scales and included studies on both animal and plant species richness.

EH has been measured over a wide range of spatial scales and in the context of diverse taxonomic groups that vary widely in traits like body size and ecological requirements. Unsurprisingly, highly diverse measures have been applied to each particular setting. With regard to the thematic focus of these measures, we distinguish between different 'subject areas', for instance EH related to topography or vegetation (Fig. 1). Furthermore, we refer to the methodological and mathematical approach employed for each measure as its 'calculation method' (see Table 2 for examples).

Specifically, we addressed the following questions: (i) which terms and measures of environmental heterogeneity have been used, and in which combinations? (ii) How can these measures be classified by methodology and subject area? (iii) Are there trends in the terminology and quantification of environmental heterogeneity regarding different concepts, methodological approaches, spatial scales, study locations or

Term	Measure	Calculation method	Subject area	Exemplary references
Environmental heterogeneity	CV of precipitation	CV	Climate	Durães & Loiselle (2004) and Fraser (1998)
	# soil types	Count	Soil	Durães & Loiselle (2004) and Johnson & Simberloff (1974)
Habitat diversity	# land cover types	Count	Land cover	Deshaye & Morisset (1988) and Kohn & Walsh (1994)
	Elevation range	Range	Topography	Ferrer-Castán & Vetaas (2005) and Finch, Blick & Schuldt (2008)
Habitat heterogeneity	SD of elevation	SD	Topography	Joly & Myers (2001) and Pereira, Oliveira-Filho & Lemos-Filho (2007)
σ,	Elevation range	Range	Topography	Kerr & Packer (1997) and Kissling <i>et al.</i> (2008)
Landscape structure	% forest cover	Percentage	Land cover	Danell et al. (1996) and Ma (2008)
Structural complexity	Foliage height diversity	Index	Vegetation	Karr & Roth (1971) and Orians (1969)

Table 2. Common terms of environmental heterogeneity (EH) with exemplary measures used for quantification, the according calculation method and the subject area used in our framework (see text and Fig. 1). A given term of EH may be quantified by different measures in different studies or even within the same study.

Abbreviations: CV, coefficient of variation; #, number of; SD, standard deviation.

taxa? (*iv*) Which mechanisms have been proposed to explain positive EH–richness relationships and how are they linked to subject areas, spatial scales, taxa and habitat types?

II. REVIEW OF STUDIES ON EH–RICHNESS RELATIONSHIPS

(1) Literature search and data basis

The literature reviewed here was compiled in the framework of a meta-analysis investigating the strength of EH-richness relationships (Stein et al., 2014). Our systematic literature survey included three different search modes: (1) a comprehensive keyword search in ISI Web of Science on the 19th April 2011, including all years and using combinations of different terms for EH (e.g. 'habitat diversity', 'habitat heterogeneity', 'structural complexity', 'topograph* heterogeneity') and "species diversity" OR "species richness" OR "species number" OR "species density" (see online supporting information Appendix S1 for details), (2) an inspection of the studies cited in several review articles (Ricklefs & Lovette, 1999; Tews et al., 2004; Field et al., 2009; Hortal et al., 2009; Lundholm, 2009; Tamme et al., 2010), and (3) a screening of the studies cited in the articles detected by search modes (1) and (2). Studies were selected according to a set of inclusion criteria (see Stein et al., 2014 for details). In brief, the meta-analysis only included observational studies that quantified the relationship between EH and species numbers of plants or animals in terrestrial systems at landscape $(>10 \text{ km}^2)$ to global extents.

We recorded the terms used to indicate EH in each study and the according measures used to quantify EH. We also compiled information on the study taxon, location [biogeographic realm according to Olson *et al.*, 2001, geographic coordinates, insularity, main habitat type (agricultural, forest and woodland, grassland, mixed, montane, or xeric)], and methodology (data source, such as fieldwork or literature data; data type, such as species lists or range maps; spatial scale). In addition, we recorded the mechanisms behind EH-richness relationships mentioned in each study and compiled bibliographic data (publication year and type, language, journal). If coordinates and spatial scale could not be obtained directly from the articles or authors, we used a geographical information system (ESRI, 2010) to estimate these variables. Spatial scale contains multiple components that are in some cases confounded or defined differently (Scheiner et al., 2000; Lundholm, 2009; Whittaker, 2010). We recorded the spatial grain of each study as the area of the unit of analysis, which was equivalent to the spatial focus in almost all studies (compare Scheiner et al., 2000; Scheiner & Jones, 2002). If the units of analysis varied in area, we used the mean area, or, when not available, the midrange, as spatial grain size. The area sizes of sample units of species richness data and EH data were only available in some of the studies. Spatial extent was recorded as the study area as given in the article or otherwise as the size of the area of a minimum convex hull encompassing all study sites.

We included 192 studies in our analysis (listed in online Appendix S2). Many studies analysed EH-richness relationships based on multiple study sites, spatial scales, taxa, or EH measures. We recorded this information as separate data points, leading to a total of 1148 data points in our database. The majority of studies employed multiple terms for EH, but we did not treat them as separate data points unless they explicitly referred to different measures. As a consequence of there being multiple data points per study, the percentages reported in the following sections frequently add up to more than 100%. For instance, in a hypothetical dataset



Fig. 1. Components and quantification of environmental heterogeneity (EH). EH can be differentiated into biotic and abiotic components, which are represented by five subject areas: vegetation (within-habitat component, i.e. vegetation structure and plant diversity), land cover (between-habitat component, composition and configuration), soil, topography, and climate. Note that biotic EH may incorporate heterogeneity in organisms other than plants, which is not included in this review (see text). At the bottom, exemplary measures are given for each subject area (for abbreviations see Table 2).

of two studies, one study might contain one data point on vertebrate species richness, the second study one data point on vertebrate richness and one on plant richness. Thus, 100% of the studies analyse vertebrate richness and 50% analyse plant richness, adding up to 150%. In the following, the reference for a particular percentage is always the population of studies that is currently being discussed. For instance, the percentage of studies analysing topographic EH may refer to all studies or to only a subset of studies that is currently discussed, such as studies including vertebrate richness.

The studies were published between 1964 and 2011 in 71 different journals; we also included one thesis and a conference contribution (see online Appendix S2). Approximately half of the studies were published in the last decade (Fig. 2, inset). The journals with the highest representation in our database were *Journal of Biogeography* (35 studies), *Biodiversity and Conservation* (15), *Ecology* (12), *Ecography* (9), and *Global Ecology and Biogeography* (8). Forty-six journals were represented by a single study each. Most articles were published in English, but we included one study each in French and in Spanish.

Clearly, our dataset does not cover the entire body of literature that exists on the relationship between EH and species diversity. Our literature survey, although extensive and following multiple search strategies, necessarily remains selective. Moreover, we had to exclude interesting studies that did not conform to the inclusion criteria (Stein *et al.*, 2014). Due to the wide scope and standardized approach of our literature search and study selection, however, we are confident that we have compiled a representative subset of the relevant literature.

(2) Subject areas

In contrast to previous reviews, we considered all kinds of spatial heterogeneity in environmental conditions. We detected five EH subject areas: studies have measured EH in vegetation, land cover, climate, soil, and topography (Table 1). These subject areas represent biotic as well as abiotic components of heterogeneity (Fig. 1).

EH-richness relationships are studied from small to large spatial scales. With regard to abiotic EH, this involves, for

819



Fig. 2. Representation of subject areas of environmental heterogeneity (EH), taxonomic groups, spatial extent and grain, latitude (absolute latitude of centroids), insularity, biogeographic realms, and main habitat types in our dataset. Bubble size is proportional to the number of studies analysing each combination of variables and increases continuously; legend provides exemplary bubble sizes. The inset shows the number of published studies per decade; note that the last decade only includes studies published up to April 2011.

instance, micro- to macroclimatic conditions concerning energy or water budget, or microtopographic structural elements to large-scale topographic relief. The subject areas are often closely linked; changes in elevation, i.e. in topographic EH, entail changes in temperature, precipitation, wind and insolation, i.e. in climatic EH, for example.

Vegetation EH incorporates the physical structure of vegetation on one hand and its functional or taxonomic composition, i.e. plant diversity, on the other hand. These are closely linked because higher plant diversity often entails a more complex vegetation structure (Qian & Kissling, 2010). Vegetation EH can also be considered from small-scale structure – the architecture of single plants – to larger scale heterogeneity of a complete forest. Measures of vegetation EH refer to within-habitat EH as we define it. Even when covering multiple (micro)habitat types, these measures do not focus on separate patches of habitat but relate to the overarching structure or composition of the study site irrespective of the contained types of patches (e.g. foliage height diversity across multiple vegetation types in Panama: Karr & Roth, 1971). In some cases, measures of vegetation

EH refer to a vertical component of EH, for instance a measure of vegetation stratification (number of vegetation layers: Kati *et al.*, 2009; also see previous example). This would relate to 'habitat complexity' as defined by August (1983). Other vegetation measures, however, are not directly associated with vertical stratification but still represent the physical structure or composition of vegetation (e.g. density of trees: James & Wamer, 1982; coefficient of variation of trunk perimeters: Taboada *et al.*, 2010; or measures of plant diversity, e.g. number of plant species: Kitchener, 1982).

In contrast to vegetation EH, our definition of land cover EH explicitly considers multiple types or patches of habitat, i.e. between-habitat heterogeneity. EH in this context could be measured on a two-dimensional image of the study site (e.g. the diversity of habitat types derived from vegetation maps: Ricklefs & Lovette, 1999). Therefore, land cover EH is related to 'heterogeneity' or 'horizontal variation' *sensu* August (1983) or Grelle (2003). Still, land cover EH is closely related to vegetation, as it largely refers to habitat or land cover types that are often defined by vegetation structure and major vegetation classes (e.g. Ricklefs & Lovette, 1999; van Rensburg, Chown & Gaston, 2002). Land cover EH incorporates the composition of cover types as well as their configuration, i.e. the spatial arrangement of elements (McGarigal & Marks, 1995; Turner, Gardner & O'Neill, 2001). Due to the predominance of composition measures in our dataset and because measures cannot always be assigned definitely to composition or configuration (McGarigal & Marks, 1995), we do not distinguish them here.

Biotic EH can relate also to other biotic components of the environment, including animals, fungi, or microbes. For instance, the diversity of prey species strongly influences the diversity of predator species (Sandom *et al.*, 2013). Cross-taxon richness relationships have been discussed in more detail elsewhere (e.g. Wolters, Bengtsson & Zaitsev, 2006; Vellend, 2008), and apart from vegetation EH they are usually described in terms unrelated to EH. Therefore, they barely emerged in our literature survey except those concerning vegetation EH, and we do not discuss them further (but see online Table S1).

A few composite measures exist that integrate multiple variables across different subject areas, e.g. summing up variables related to radiation, slope, rock fragments, and soil types (Harner & Harper, 1976; also see Brown & Freitas, 2000). Due to their rareness in our dataset, we focus on measures that can be assigned to a single subject area.

(3) Quantitative description of studies

(a) Study locations

The study regions covered all continents except Antarctica and both mainland and island systems. The most frequently studied biogeographic realm was the Palaearctic (41.7% of the studies; Fig. 2), followed by the Nearctic (18.2%)and the Neotropic (17.7%). Only 9.4% of studies focused on the Afrotropic realm. Eleven studies (5.7%) each were conducted in Australasia or included multiple biogeographic realms. The significant bias towards studies in temperate systems is further illustrated by the fact that three quarters of the studies were centred outside the tropics at latitudes above 23.5° and 29.7% above 45° . The majority of study areas covered mainland systems, 27.1% of the studies focused on islands. Given that islands cover only 5.3% of global land area (Weigelt, Jetz & Kreft, 2013), they were relatively over-represented. In insular studies, EH was mainly quantified through topography measures (55.8% of the insular studies), whereas mainland studies mostly involved land cover EH (50.4% of the mainland studies).

(b) Study taxa and subject areas

About one-fifth of the studies considered multiple taxonomic groups. Sixty-seven studies analysed plants and 135 analysed animals (85 vertebrates, 56 invertebrates; Fig. 2). Compared to their documented and estimated total biodiversity, invertebrates are heavily under-represented, which has also been found for macroecological studies (Beck *et al.*, 2012). This trend might partly be due to the fact that small-scale

studies were excluded from the comparison, but Tews *et al.* (2004), who considered small-scale EH, found the same bias. Most plant studies included various life forms (68.7% of the plant studies), with similar proportions analysing herbaceous (22.4%) or woody plants (23.9%) separately. Birds were by far the most frequently investigated vertebrate group (63.5% of all vertebrate studies), followed by mammals (34.1%) and reptiles (12.9%). Most invertebrate studies involved butterflies (32.1% of all invertebrate studies) or beetles (26.8%).

Plant richness was mostly studied with respect to land cover and topographic EH (52.2 and 47.8% of the plant studies, respectively). Vertebrate richness was mainly studied with regard to vegetation EH (47.1% of the vertebrate studies), closely followed by land cover and topographic EH (43.5%) each), whereas invertebrate studies focused mainly on land cover (53.6% of the invertebrate studies) and vegetation EH (46.4%). Overall, studies considering land cover EH represented the largest portion of our dataset (47.9% of all studies), followed by studies considering topographic (38.5%) and vegetation EH (35.4%; 21.4% vegetation structure and 19.3% plant diversity). Vegetation EH was most frequently studied for birds and invertebrates (39.7 and 38.2%, respectively, of the studies on vegetation EH; Fig. 3), with bird richness being analysed more often in relation to vegetation structure and invertebrate richness more often in relation to plant diversity. This is not surprising as both groups depend more or less directly and strongly on vegetation, both for nesting and roosting sites and for food resources (Novotny et al., 2006; Kissling, Field & Böhning-Gaese, 2008). Although climate is considered in many ecological studies (Field et al., 2009), climatic EH was surprisingly scarce in our dataset. Studies with a focus on climatic or soil EH only constituted 5.7 and 8.3% of the whole dataset, respectively, and mostly analysed effects on plant richness (54.5 and 56.3% of the respective studies; Fig. 3). Again, this bias might be partly due to our selection criteria, as more soil studies may be found at smaller spatial scales, for instance.

(c) Habitat types

EH-richness studies covered all major biomes and many different habitat types from desert and tundra to tropical rainforest. Almost half of the studies covered multiple habitat types (47.4% of all studies; Fig. 2). This is not surprising because many of the studies explicitly analysed between-habitat heterogeneity or studied EH over large spatial scales. Topographic EH was the most frequently studied subject area in studies spanning multiple habitat types (54.9%). This supports the notion that topographic measures are often indirect and used as proxies for land cover, soil, or climatic EH.

Studies focusing on a single habitat type showed a large preference for forests and woodlands (29.7% of all studies). Here, EH mainly related to vegetation EH (54.4% of the studies in forests and woodlands) and was mostly analysed with regard to birds, plants, or invertebrates (35.1, 31.6, and 28.1%, respectively). These results confirm findings of Tews *et al.* (2004), who also stated a clear bias towards



Fig. 3. Proportion of studies analysing species richness of various taxonomic groups in relation to environmental heterogeneity (EH) distinguished by subject area. The 100% reference level for each panel is \mathcal{N} , the total number of studies considering climatic, land cover, soil, topographic, and vegetation EH, respectively.

forest systems while focusing only on vegetation EH. Martin, Blossey & Ellis (2012) similarly reported a distinct over-representation of ecological studies in temperate woodlands. The second most frequently analysed habitat type was agricultural systems (9.4% of all studies). The majority of studies in agricultural systems focused on invertebrates (44.4%) and plants (38.9%) and was situated in the Palaearctic (83.3%). By contrast, grassland studies (only 8.3% of all studies) were mostly conducted in the Afrotropic (31.3% of all grassland studies), whereas six of the nine studies involving xeric environments were located in the Nearctic. In contrast to forest systems, measures analysed in agricultural and grassland systems related to land cover EH in most studies (77.8 and 62.5% of the studies in agricultural and grassland systems, respectively).

(d) Spatial scales

EH may influence species richness over different spatial scales, which was reflected by a wide range of extent and grain

sizes in our dataset. Spatial extent varied from 10 km^2 , i.e. the lower extent limit as defined by our inclusion criteria, to the global scale and differed among subject areas and taxonomic groups. Topographic EH was mostly quantified at regional to global extents (77.0% > 10^4 km^2 , $35.1\% > 10^6 \text{ km}^2$; Fig. 2), while land cover studies focused more on a landscape extent ($62.0\% < 10^4 \text{ km}^2$). This difference is not surprising considering the large amount of large-scale topographic data available from maps, geographic information systems or the literature, whereas studies on land cover EH often rely on field data or smaller scale vegetation maps. Studies on invertebrate richness mostly focused on a landscape extent ($66.1\% < 10^4 \text{ km}^2$), whereas studies conducted at continental to global extents mainly considered vertebrate richness (71.9% of the studies conducted at > 10^6 km^2).

Our dataset also varied highly in spatial grain sizes, ranging from 1 m² plots to 5° grid cells and islands or political provinces of more than 10⁵ km² area. In small-grain studies, the most frequently analysed group were invertebrates $(45.0\% \text{ of all studies conducted at grains} < 0.01 \text{ km}^2)$, while vertebrate studies made up 55.6% of the studies conducted at grains $> 100 \text{ km}^2$. Again, the differences in extent and grain sizes across taxa can partly be explained by the underlying data. The proportion of invertebrate studies using field data was distinctly higher (75.0%) than that of vertebrate studies (55.3%) which is certainly due to the greater availability of broad-scale range maps and other resources for vertebrates (e.g. Currie, 1991; Danell, Lundberg & Niemelä, 1996). Woody plants tended to be studied at larger spatial grains than herbs (largest fraction, i.e. 50.0% of woody plant studies $> 100 \text{ km}^2$, 46.7% of herb studies $< 1 \text{ km}^2$). This is not surprising because, for one thing, woody plant richness, in contrast to herb richness, was partly derived from range maps that often cover relatively large areas and allow for flexible grain sizes. For another thing, field data for woody plants are often collected from larger plots than those for herbs. Fourteen studies explicitly compared multiple spatial grains or extents, mostly for measures of land cover EH. As the effects of EH are scale dependent (e.g. Böhning-Gaese, 1997; van Rensburg et al., 2002; Stein et al., 2014), multi-scale comparisons should offer more precise insights about EH-richness relationships than studies conducted at a single scale.

(4) Terms for EH in the literature

The afore-mentioned inconsistency in terms and concepts was confirmed by 130 different terms for EH in our dataset. Ninety-nine of these could be linked to one or more specified measures, while the others occurred only in the context of a citation or general discussion. Combining equivalent terms like 'ecologic/ecological diversity', 'topographic variability/ variability in topography' or 'vegetation/vegetational/ vegetative structure' resulted in 83 unique terms for EH that we could associate with at least one measure (see Fig. 4 and online Table S1). The most frequent term for EH was 'habitat diversity' (Fig. 4), which occurred (linked to a measure) in 59 studies. Forty-two studies dealt with



Fig. 4. Terms for EH used in our dataset that could be associated with a measure in at least one study. Font size is proportional to the number of studies using each term. Colour ramp signifies the number of measures used to quantify each term (six classes: 1-2, 3-5, 6-9, 10-19, 20-29, 42 measures).

'habitat heterogeneity', while 'environmental heterogeneity', 'topographic heterogeneity', and 'landscape heterogeneity' occurred in 19, 15, and 13 studies, respectively. Other frequently used terms were 'habitat complexity' and 'vegetation structure' (12 studies each), 'spatial heterogeneity' (11), and 'landscape complexity' (10 studies).

Terms containing 'complexity' or 'structure' mainly referred to within-habitat EH in vegetation, for instance 'habitat complexity' (83.3% of the respective studies), 'habitat structure' (75.0%), 'structural complexity' (87.5%), and all occurrences of 'environmental structure', 'structural diversity/heterogeneity', and 'vegetation/vertical structure/ complexity'. In a landscape context, however, 'landscape complexity' and 'landscape structure' described betweenhabitat variability in all cases, mostly referring to land cover composition. The literature is thus only partly in accordance with August (1983) in his definition of 'complexity' as vertical stratification within a habitat and 'heterogeneity' as horizontal variation. This is not surprising because landscape structure and vegetation structure inevitably relate Concerning the EH subject areas, 'habitat diversity' was most often used to refer to land cover EH (66.1% of the studies using 'habitat diversity'), followed by topographic EH (30.5%). 'Habitat heterogeneity' showed a similar trend without such a pronounced distinction (land cover EH: 47.6%; topographic EH: 42.9% of the respective studies). Climatic EH was mostly referred to as 'habitat heterogeneity' (45.5% of the studies about climatic EH), whereas the largest fraction of studies quantifying soil EH used the term 'environmental heterogeneity' (25.0%). The frequent use of the same terms implies an assumption of similar processes underlying the influence of EH across subject areas.

The majority of studies included more than one term; some contained even nine or ten. In studies where terms do not explicitly refer to specific measures (e.g. Poggio, Chaneton & Ghersa, 2010), it is difficult to determine whether numerous terms are interchangeable or what the exact differences are. Beside the terms used by the authors themselves (as, in the given example, 'environmental heterogeneity', 'farmland complexity', 'habitat complexity', 'habitat heterogeneity', 'land-cover heterogeneity', 'landscape complexity', 'landscape composition', 'landscape heterogeneity', 'structural complexity'), additional terms often occurred only in the context of a citation (e.g. 'landscape structure'), resulting in even more terms.

The variety, poor definition, and inconsistent use of terms impede understanding and cross-study comparisons on the topic. Ambiguous terminology is likely to hinder scientific progress by preventing relevant data from being discovered or by causing redundant research efforts to occur (Madin *et al.*, 2008). Even a term as frequent in the ecological literature as 'habitat' has varying and sometimes only vague definitions (Triantis *et al.*, 2003). Terminology can be further complicated through translations between different languages (McVicar & Körner, 2013). We thus encourage authors to provide clear definitions of terms and to avoid the unnecessary use of synonyms. In a scientific context, linguistic precision is more important than style and should not suffer because authors wish to avoid word repetition for the sake of variety.

(5) Quantification of EH

(a) Measures

EH has been quantified by a wide array of measures. Overall, we compiled 357 different measure names from our dataset, although many were synonyms. For instance, the measure 'elevation range' was also called 'altitude', 'altitude/altitudinal range', 'elevation', 'elevation variability', 'range of variation of elevation', 'relief', 'topography', 'topographic range/relief', 'greatest/maximum elevation' or 'insular/island height', when relating to islands. Instead of 'number of habitat types', studies also contained the names 'habitat diversity', 'habitat number', 'habitat richness', 'heterogeneity of the habitat', 'index of number of habitat types', or 'number of habitats'. We combined synonyms and variants of measures, such as the number of habitat/land cover/land use/plant community types or the number of tree/tree and shrub/shrub/coniferous tree/paperbark tree species to a single measure each (in this case, number of land cover types and number of woody plant species). This resulted in 165 unique measures with varying numbers of variants per measure (see online Table S1). We could have combined measures slightly differently, which would have led to other figures than those presented here. The overall trends, however, should remain similar. We tried to achieve a reasonable overview taking the variable ecological settings of studies into account; for instance, the number of bird-dispersed plant species and the number of caterpillar food plant species both refer to species of food plants.

Overall, the most common measure was elevation range (56 studies), followed by the number of land cover types (31 studies), measures relating to the number of plant species (31 studies, compare online Table S1), and the Shannon index of land cover types (29 studies). Twenty-six measures were used in only two studies, and 109 measures in one study each. Approximately half of the studies compared multiple measures or measure variants. Deriving multiple measures from a single dataset is often easy to achieve and should offer more detailed insights into the processes underlying EH–richness relationships than studying a single measure only.

With regard to EH subject areas, we detected clear differences in the variety of measures in use, reflecting the varying number of studies in our dataset. At the spatial scales considered here, we only compiled 11 measures of climatic EH and 12 measures of soil EH. The most frequent measure of climatic EH was precipitation range (45.5% of the studies on climatic EH), followed by temperature range (36.4%). The largest portion of studies on soil EH analysed the number of soil types (37.5% of the respective studies). The aforementioned prominence of elevation range in the dataset is reflected by its use in three-quarters of the topography studies, which is not surprising because it is relatively simple to derive from maps and digital elevation models. The second most frequent measure of topographic EH, standard deviation of elevation, only occurred in 8.1% of the respective studies. We recorded 18 further measures of topographic EH, but most were only used in a single study each. Land cover EH, on the other hand, was quantified by a larger variety of measures. Here, we detected 54 different measures with a strong tendency towards diversity indices of land cover types (41.3% of land cover studies; mostly Shannon index: 31.5%) and the number of land cover types (33.7%). Percentage cover of a particular land cover type was used in 18.5% of the land cover studies. Measures of vegetation EH were even more diverse: We recorded 65 measures in total. Fifty-two measures referred to vegetation structure, the most frequently used measure being foliage height diversity (14.6% of the studies on vegetation

structure). Thirteen measures related to plant diversity, with most studies counting species of different plant groups, e.g. number of vascular plant species or number of tree species (83.8% of the studies on plant diversity).

The most frequent data sources for EH measures were field data (mainly for vegetation EH), database and literature data, maps (mainly land cover and topographic EH), digital elevation models (topographic EH), and remote sensing data (mainly land cover EH). The provenance of data partly explains the varying number of measures across subject areas: fieldwork allows for more flexibility in deriving measures than extracting data from maps, which only offer some types of information.

Terms were not matched consistently with particular measures, but each term was used in combination with many different measures and *vice versa*. This also shows that the concepts of how terms should be differentiated with respect to their meaning vary among researchers. The term 'habitat diversity' was most often used in combination with the number of land cover types or elevation range (22 and 15 studies, respectively). Elevation range was furthermore used frequently as a measure of 'habitat heterogeneity', 'topographic(al) heterogeneity', and 'environmental heterogeneity' (14, 10, and 9 studies, respectively). Of the most frequently used terms for EH, 'habitat heterogeneity' was quantified by 42 different measures, 'habitat diversity' by 27, and 'landscape/environmental/spatial heterogeneity' or 'habitat complexity' by 23–24 measures each (Fig. 4).

To make matters more complicated, what is used as a term for EH in some studies is used as a measure name in others. For instance, 'habitat diversity' is one of the most frequent terms for EH, which has been quantified by various measures. Steffan-Dewenter (2002) and Poggio et al. (2010), however, used 'habitat diversity' 'as a measure of landscape complexity'. The variability in names used for equivalent measures and terms makes it difficult to find, compare, and generalize studies. Moreover, plant diversity measures, such as the number of vascular plant species, are used as EH measures in some studies, but as response variables in others. Some of the measure names are furthermore imprecise or unspecific. For instance, in other contexts, 'elevation' or 'altitude' are generally used for absolute elevation or altitude values instead of elevation range, as was the case in our dataset. Besides, it is important to distinguish between the two terms, and studies referring to mountain ranges should correctly use 'elevation' and not 'altitude' (McVicar & Körner, 2013). 'Topography', on the other hand, is usually more comprehensive than the mere range in elevation and can relate to other surface characteristics, such as aspect or slope, as well. Certainly, a standardized terminology is difficult to achieve for highly variable and complex measures used in different environmental settings. Still, wherever possible we would like to encourage the use of a clear terminology that makes the underlying methods transparent, replicable and comparable. For instance, we would prefer the use of 'elevation range' over imprecise terms like 'topography' or 'elevation', or the use of 'number of habitat types' over 'habitat diversity' (which could also signify a

diversity index of habitat types or a term for EH quantified by other measures) or 'number of habitats' (which is ambiguous as it might also refer to the number of habitat patches).

(b) Calculation methods

The variety of measures is reflected not only in their varying data sources, but also in their calculation methods. We found 18 different calculation methods (see Fig. 5 and online Fig. S1), with more than half of all measures being either count (13.3% of all measures), percentage (11.5%), or index measures (29.1%). The latter include diversity indices (e.g. Simpson or Shannon index) and various other complex formulae (e.g. index of precipitable water variation: Brunet & Medellín, 2001) and therefore represent the most variable calculation method. By contrast, only 4.8% of all measures



Fig. 5. Proportion of studies using different calculation methods for the quantification of environmental heterogeneity (EH) in combination with a given term for EH. Only the most common terms are displayed in the order of their frequency. The term 'plant richness' ($\mathcal{N} = 9$) only occurred in combination with count measures and was omitted for clarity. The 100% reference level for each panel is \mathcal{N} , the total number of studies using each term. Calculation methods: SD, standard deviation; CV, coefficient of variation; 'other' combines various rare calculation methods.

were quantified as ranges. Still, range measures were among the most frequently used, only third to count and index measures (32.3, 35.9, and 33.3% of all studies, respectively; see online Fig. S1). This is consistent with the finding that elevation range was the most frequently used EH measure, while only few other range measures have been used. Ten calculation methods were each applied in less than 4% of all measures, nine in less than 4% of all studies.

Different calculation methods contain varying information content and are likely to capture different mechanisms of EH. For instance, counts or percentages of land cover types represent the mere composition of an area, whereas indices can provide more insight into the evenness or configuration of land cover types, including potential effects of patch dynamics and fragmentation (compare McGarigal & Marks, 1995; Fahrig, 2003). Range measures in turn refer to the length of gradients but do not represent spatial variability inside study units. For instance, elevation range contains information on the strength of climatic gradients (Ruggiero & Hawkins, 2008) but does not indicate changes in slopes and aspects or the potential number of isolated valleys. As each calculation method has its own merits, comparison or combination of measures using various calculation methods should again be the most useful approach for understanding the effects of EH on species richness and other ecological target variables.

Similarly to the measures, terms for EH were not matched consistently with particular calculation methods, although some trends emerged. Terms containing 'diversity' referred to count or index measures in 39.0% and 32.0% of studies, respectively (see online Fig. S2). While count measures made up the largest portion of studies quantifying 'habitat diversity' (44.1%), index measures were by far the most frequent measures of 'landscape diversity' (77.8%, Fig. 5). Terms comprising 'heterogeneity', e.g. 'habitat heterogeneity', 'environmental heterogeneity', 'topographic heterogeneity', or 'spatial heterogeneity', were mostly used to discuss range measures (42.9, 52.6, 66.7, and 45.5% of the studies using each term, respectively), except for 'landscape heterogeneity', which was mostly quantified by index and percentage measures (38.5% each) (Fig. 5). A further deviation of terminology in the landscape context becomes apparent in the quantification of complexity and structure. While 'habitat complexity' was quantified by indices in the largest portion of the respective studies (50.0%, Fig. 5) and measures (23.1%), the main calculation method for 'landscape complexity' were percentages (60 and 50% of the respective studies and measures). A similar difference existed between the quantification of 'habitat structure' (44.4% index measures) and 'landscape structure' (50% percentage measures). Correspondingly, studies using percentage measures were conducted at a landscape extent ($\leq 10^4$ km²) in 76.9% of the respective studies. By contrast, there was no particular spatial focus for index and count measures, while range measures were mainly used at regional to global extents $(10^4 - 10^6 \text{ km}^2)$: 40.3% of the studies using range measures; $>10^6$ km²: 41.9%). A similar pattern held for the spatial grain, where 84.6% of the studies using percentage measures were conducted using relatively small grains ($\leq 1 \text{ km}^2$), whereas range measures were mostly used at larger spatial grains (71.0% > 100 km²). These trends are again in accordance with the underlying data, as it is easier to derive large-scale measures from literature data and maps and small-scale measures from high-resolution field data than *vice versa*. Percentage measures were mostly derived from field data of EH and related to field data of species richness, while range measures were calculated from literature data and maps and related to species data from literature or databases (mostly species lists or range / grid maps) in the largest portion of the respective studies.

Regarding EH subject areas, climatic and topographic EH were mostly quantified by range measures (72.7 and 75.7% of the respective studies; Fig. 6). Soil and vegetation EH were mostly quantified by count measures (43.8 and 50.0%, respectively), whereas vegetation structure, when separated from plant diversity (83.8% count measures), was mostly quantified by index measures (41.5%). The largest portion of studies on land cover EH used index measures (43.5%), followed by count measures (37.0%).

We did not find distinct patterns concerning the use of calculation methods over time. The relative proportion



Fig. 6. Occurrence of calculation methods in environmental heterogeneity (EH) measures according to subject area. Plant diversity and vegetation structure are treated as separate subject areas to show the differences in calculation methods. Line width is proportional to the number of studies applying each particular calculation method for quantification of EH in a given subject area. For instance, plant diversity is quantified by count measures in the majority of cases, whereas topographic EH is mostly quantified by range measures. Bar height is proportional to the number of studies using each calculation method. The three most frequent calculation methods are highlighted by colour. Abbreviations: SD, standard deviation; CV, coefficient of variation.

of studies applying each method fluctuated over the past decades (see online Fig. S3). The use of standard deviations, coefficients of variation, and percentages showed a slight increasing trend, which coincided with a growing prevalence of geographic information systems and remote sensing data in the quantification of EH.

(6) Mechanisms driving EH-richness relationships

Positive relationships between EH and species richness have been attributed to various mechanisms. The most common explanation is an increase in available niche space that allows more species to coexist (e.g. Currie, 1991; Kissling *et al.*, 2008). However, the positive relationship between EH and species richness has also been suggested to result from historical factors involving species isolation or survival opportunities and thereby speciation and extinction (e.g. Durães & Loiselle, 2004; Fløjgaard *et al.*, 2011). EH may thus impact species richness through ecological as well as evolutionary processes.

Negative and unimodal EH–richness relationships have also been found in empirical studies as well as in simulation models (Tews *et al.*, 2004; Allouche *et al.*, 2012), but appear to be rare overall (Stein *et al.*, 2014). Negative relationships have frequently been attributed to fragmentation and seem to occur particularly at small spatial scales (Tews *et al.*, 2004; Tamme *et al.*, 2010; Fahrig *et al.*, 2011; Laanisto *et al.*, 2013). Another reason why EH is not necessarily positively linked with species richness is a reduction of suitable area available to each species that may be associated with increasing EH, which in turn should increase the likelihood of stochastic extinctions (Kadmon & Allouche, 2007). The debate about this issue is still ongoing (e.g. Allouche *et al.*, 2013; Hortal *et al.*, 2013), and further research is needed to substantiate the area–heterogeneity trade-off (Allouche *et al.*, 2013).

Here, we concentrate on the mechanisms behind positive EH-richness relationships. We distinguish three main aspects through which EH may positively affect species richness, namely through the promotion of (i) species coexistence, (ii) species persistence, and (iii) species diversification (Table 3). The underlying processes operate at different spatial and temporal scales. Processes involving the impact of local-scale habitat structure and interactions on coexistence within communities are likely to occur at time scales of several to a hundred years (Willis & Whittaker, 2002). At a landscape scale, land cover, soil, or topographic EH may affect species turnover at the scale of centuries to millennia (Willis & Whittaker, 2002). At larger spatial scales, topographic EH can promote allopatric speciation and ecological speciation, which may require hundreds of thousands of years (Rosenzweig, 1995).

The influence of EH is also taxon dependent. From an ecological point of view, specific habitat requirements and functional traits, such as body size or mobility, determine whether a species perceives its environment as heterogeneous and whether it benefits from EH or suffers from fragmentation, for example (Huston, 1994; Tews *et al.*, 2004). Also plant size in relation to patch size is important for the perception of EH by individual plants (Hutchings, John & Wijesinghe, 2003; Tamme et al., 2010). Furthermore, species richness of habitat specialists may be linked more closely to EH than that of habitat generalists (Ricklefs & Lovette, 1999; Menendez et al., 2007). Since habitat specialists depend on the availability of a certain habitat type or element, the prevalence of multiple diverse habitat types should allow differently specialized species to coexist and might even give them a competitive advantage over generalists. However, the opposite has been argued as well because generalists should be able to gain resources from more than one habitat type and may therefore benefit more from EH (Jonsen & Fahrig, 1997; Batáry et al., 2007). Oliver et al. (2010) reported different impacts of EH on the stability of specialist and generalist populations depending on spatial scale. Overall, areas with larger EH may be more likely to meet the habitat requirements of both generalist and specialist species (Kumar, Simonson & Stohlgren, 2009). In an evolutionary context, diversification rates in response to EH and the susceptibility to geographic

barriers, resulting e.g. from topographic EH, differ among taxa as well. Moreover, the probability of encountering a barrier that might lead to allopatric speciation should be larger for species with larger range sizes, while at the same time the barrier may be less likely to cut through the range completely (Rosenzweig, 1995). Almost half of the studies in our dataset did not refer

Almost half of the studies in our dataset did not refer to any theories about mechanisms behind EH–richness relationships. On one hand, this was because EH was not the main focus but rather a side aspect in many studies. On the other hand, ecological literature in general has been found bereft of theory (Scheiner, 2013), and the lack of links to ecological theory in EH–richness studies surely hampers acquisition of scientific knowledge in this field. Of the 107 studies that did include theories, the vast majority (96 studies) discussed EH–richness relationships in the light of species coexistence mechanisms. Thirty-one studies referred to mechanisms related to species persistence, while only 11 studies addressed mechanisms related to diversification.

(a) Species coexistence

The largest portion of our dataset, i.e. 86 studies, related to the theory that an increase in available niche space and more diverse resources due to increasing EH allow more species to coexist (e.g. Kissling et al., 2008; Fløjgaard et al., 2011). The majority of these studies analysed vertebrate richness and were conducted at relatively small spatial grains and extents (Table 3). EH-richness relationships in this context can be related to the following processes. First, an increase in plant diversity represents an increase in resource diversity for herbivores, which should usually allow more consumer species to coexist (Hutchinson, 1959). This is because the higher the number and variety of plant resources, the higher the probability that a particular resource is available to a particular consumer. Herbivore diversity should thus be directly promoted by plant diversity. This relationship has been found for insects (Chown, Gremmen & Gaston, 1998; Novotny et al., 2006;

	Mechanism	EH subject area	Taxon	Habitat type	Spatial scale
Coexistence	More opportunities to coexist through more potential niches and diverse resources such as food and colonization, mating, oviposition, breeding, foraging and roosting sites	Vegetation (43), land cover (37), topography (34), soil (9), climate (6)	Vertebrates (40), plants (29), invertebrates (26)	Mixed (35), forest (30), agricultural (7), grassland (7), xeric (6), montane (1)	
	Spatial turnover of species favouring different habitat types or abiotic conditions (e.g. energy or water availability, soil pH or compaction)	Land cover (5), topography (5), soil (2), climate (1)	Plants (6), vertebrates (4), invertebrates (1)	Mixed (6), grassland (3), forest (1)	
Persistence	Reduced extinction risk through shelter from predators, parasites and harsh abiotic conditions such as cold or heat	Land cover (10), vegetation (10), soil (2), topography (1)	Invertebrates (12), vertebrates (5), plants (1)	Forest (7), agricultural (5), mixed (4), grassland (1)	\bigwedge
	Reduced extinction risk through reduced competitive pressure	Vegetation (3), topography (2), land cover (1)	Vertebrates (3), plants (2), invertebrates (2)	Mixed (3), forest (1), grassland (1)	
	Survival of populations through vertical range shifts and refuges in periods of adverse environmental conditions	Topography (8), land cover (3), soil (2), climate (1), vegetation (1)	Plants (4), vertebrates (4), invertebrates (2)	Mixed (7), forest (1), xeric (1)	/
Diversification	Divergent natural selection, specialization and adaptive radiation through diverse environmental pressures and opportunities	Topography (5), land cover (3), soil (2), vegetation (2), climate (1)	Plants (3), vertebrates (3), invertebrates (2)	Mixed (5), forest (2)	\wedge
	Allopatric speciation through isolation of populations by physically or physiologically effective barriers	Topography (7), vegetation (3), soil (2), climate (1), land cover (1)	Plants (4), vertebrates (4), invertebrates (1)	Mixed (6), forest (2)	

Table 3. Potential mechanisms behind positive environmental heterogeneity (EH)-richness relationships mentioned in the literature. We classified mechanisms according to the three main aspects species coexistence, persistence and diversification.

The numbers in parentheses indicate the numbers of studies (in decreasing order) mentioning each mechanism and investigating a particular EH subject area, taxon and habitat type. Within each aspect, the different mechanisms are ordered according to an increasing spatial scale, i.e. grain and extent, as indicated by the triangles.

Kumar et al., 2009), birds (Seto et al., 2004), and vertebrates (Oian & Kissling, 2010). In this context, not only species richness of plants is important, but also functional diversity. For instance, frugivorous birds, although rarely specialized on fruits of one particular plant species, are often adapted to particular fruit types, sizes, colours, or modes of presentation (Kissling, Rahbek & Böhning-Gaese, 2007; Kissling et al., 2008). Plant diversity can also indirectly promote predator diversity through its impact on herbivorous prey and bottom-up trophic cascades (Chown et al., 1998; Scherber et al., 2010). Animals, fungi, or microorganisms can promote EH through trophic interactions, pollination networks, symbiosis, facilitation, parasitism, or activities such as grazing, burrowing, or trampling (Stewart, John & Hutchings, 2000). This may lead to a positive feedback between heterogeneity and species diversity (Wilson, 2000). Second, species

coexistence of plants and soil organisms should be positively associated with soil EH, for instance heterogeneity in nutrient availability, pH, soil compaction, or water content. Microtopographically complex areas are likely to provide special habitats, such as rock crevices, gypsum outcrops or salt pans, that often harbour highly adapted and narrowly endemic species (Dinerstein et al., 2000). Third, diversity of microhabitats that offer protection, foraging, roosting, breeding, and oviposition sites, or variability in light and water regimes is essential for species coexistence, as it is for species persistence. More complex vegetation is also important in this context because it provides microhabitats suitable for colonization by a larger variety of species, such as insects (Gonçalves-Alvim & Fernandes, 2001). Accordingly, the largest portion of studies referring to the presented mechanisms analysed vegetation EH, followed by land cover EH (Table 3).

At broader spatial scales, EH can promote spatial turnover of species that favour different habitat types or abiotic conditions. The 10 studies from our dataset addressing this mechanism mainly analysed land cover and topographic EH and effects on plant species richness (e.g. Deshave & Morisset, 1988; Homeier et al., 2010; Table 3). With respect to land cover EH, both land cover configuration and composition can affect species coexistence. A patchy environment should offer a wider variety in abiotic conditions (e.g. insolation, moisture, or disturbance) than a non-patchy one. It may thus promote coexistence of species with different habitat requirements, e.g. species favouring closed vegetation versus edge habitats (Batáry et al., 2007; Kumar et al., 2009). In mountain systems, the impact of topographic EH has been partly attributed to high rates of change in climatic conditions and habitat types over relatively short distances (Körner, 2000; Ruggiero & Hawkins, 2008).

(b) Species persistence

EH may also influence species richness through a reduction of extinction risk and promotion of population stability (Marini et al., 2010), which in turn promotes species persistence. Seventeen studies included the notion that EH provides shelter from predators and unfavourable conditions like cold or heat. These studies mostly analysed land cover and vegetation EH at relatively small spatial scales and focused on invertebrate richness and forest or agricultural systems (e.g. Lassau & Hochuli, 2005; Garden, McAlpine & Possingham, 2010; Table 3). Another potential mechanism mentioned in five studies was that higher EH may reduce extinction risk due to lower competitive pressure (e.g. Heatwole, 1991). MacArthur (1972) proposed that extinction rates on islands rise abruptly as soon as all habitats are occupied by corresponding species. This implies that larger EH may result in lower extinction rates because regions with more habitat types are less likely to have all habitats occupied. However, species persistence can also be impaired by the addition of habitat types, when the associated decrease in area of habitat suitable for a particular species leads to reduced population sizes and hence to a higher risk of stochastic extinctions (Kadmon & Allouche, 2007; Allouche et al., 2012; but see Hortal *et al.*, 2013).

At larger spatial scales, EH has also been related to enhanced persistence of populations in refuges from larger scale adverse environmental conditions (e.g. Kohn & Walsh, 1994). Eight out of nine studies referring to this mechanism analysed topographic EH, which may permit range shifts or contractions in response to climate change and glacial events (e.g. Kallimanis *et al.*, 2010; also see Sandel *et al.*, 2011) or to avoid competition or pathogenicity introduced by new colonists (Ricklefs & Lovette, 1999).

(c) Species diversification

In an evolutionary context, EH has been argued to be important through its promotion of adaptation, diversification, and speciation (Simpson, 1964). As most speciation events are thought to occur in allopatry (Barraclough & Vogler, 2000), geographic isolation limiting gene flow between populations is an important prerequisite for diversification. Eight studies in our dataset related EH to vicariance and allopatric speciation (e.g. Andrews & O'Brien, 2000; Durães & Loiselle, 2004). These studies mostly investigated topographic EH at spatial grains $> 100 \text{ km}^2$ (Table 3). Regions with a high level of EH are generally more likely to contain barriers that may isolate populations than homogeneous areas. Barriers can impede gene flow between populations through two mechanisms. First, they may represent physical obstacles that are insurmountable due to the restricted mobility of organisms. The effectiveness of barriers thereby depends on taxon-specific dispersal abilities. Second, organisms may be unable to cross barriers because they are adapted to different environmental conditions (Janzen, 1967). For instance, even if an organism is physically able to cross a mountain range, it may be physiologically unable to bear the unfamiliar climatic conditions this crossing would involve. Mountainous areas are usually rich in range-restricted species that occur only on single ranges, isolated peaks or valleys. A well-known example of the effect of EH on speciation is the Andes, where recent uplift has led to a high level of topographic EH, providing many opportunities for isolation and species diversification (Antonelli & Sanmartín, 2011). The Andean uplift has been considered essential to some of the fastest and most prominent diversifications in plants (Kay et al., 2005; Hughes & Eastwood, 2006), and the region is paramount in the number of native and endemic species of plants and vertebrates (Hughes & Eastwood, 2006).

Another important role of EH lies in the promotion of ecological speciation (Givnish, 2010). In this case, barriers to gene flow result from ecologically driven divergent selection (Nosil, 2012). Seven studies in our dataset related to the notion that larger EH promotes specialization and adaptive radiation through a wider variety of environmental pressures and opportunities (e.g. Kallimanis et al., 2010; Table 3). In particular, the probability and extent of adaptive radiation should increase when a larger variety of resources is available for partitioning (Givnish, 2010). An iconic example of radiation driven by EH in birds is the divergent bill and tongue morphology and varying plumage colour related to diverse food resources and foraging behaviour in Hawaiian honeycreepers (Freed, Conant & Fleischer, 1987). Similarly, variety in elevation, climate, substrate, and microtopography has been deemed responsible for radiation in *Aeonium* on the Canary Islands (Lems, 1960; Givnish, 2010). Here, a plethora of species has evolved with growth forms and root morphologies adapted to different temperature and moisture regimes, soil types, and rock formations. EH, particularly in mountain systems, may therefore affect species richness through various synergistic processes, involving geographic isolation, steep climatic gradients, and the availability of diverse resources and habitat types over relatively small areas.

(7) Confounding factors

The mechanisms responsible for positive EH–species richness relationships are often difficult to disentangle, not

least because EH can be confounded with other variables and processes. For example, a central hypothesis for explaining species diversity patterns relates to productivity (Currie, 1991; Hawkins et al., 2003). Complex vegetation structure, though a measure of EH, may also reflect increased productivity. A relationship between vegetation structure and consumer species richness may thus indicate the effect of available energy rather than EH (Nilsson, 1979). Another confounding factor is that structurally more complex plants should also be easier to find by herbivores or pollinators, so that vegetation EH might be confounded with a higher 'apparency' of the vegetation (Feeny, 1976; Lawton, 1983). More complex vegetation usually also entails a larger plant area, which can support more herbivores and thereby reduces extinction probabilities (Araújo et al., 2006). Understanding the importance of vegetation EH is further hampered by the fact that cross-taxon relationships, e.g. correlations between plant and consumer diversity, do not necessarily result from a causal link. Instead, the taxa may depend on the same environmental factors or respond to different environmental variables that covary in space (Wolters et al., 2006; Jetz et al., 2009). Another instance in which our understanding of the impact of EH can be impeded is when EH is confounded with changes in mean environmental conditions. For instance, acidic patches of conifer litter can be interpreted as EH but at the same time lower the mean soil pH at a larger spatial scale (Tamme et al., 2010). Higher species richness measured in more heterogeneous environments may also result from enhanced mass effects, when more individuals can immigrate from adjacent, dissimilar habitats, even though they do not form viable populations (Shmida & Wilson, 1985; Palmer et al., 2002).

As EH and area are closely related, their relative contributions to species diversity patterns have received particular attention (Kohn & Walsh, 1994; Ricklefs & Lovette, 1999; Triantis et al., 2003, 2005; Hannus & von Numers, 2008). Area is expected to influence species diversity through effects on immigration, extinction, and speciation rates (MacArthur & Wilson, 1963, 1967; Kisel et al., 2011) or via an increase of EH (Williams, 1964; Johnson & Simberloff, 1974). In general, larger areas are more likely to hold a larger number of habitat types or broader gradients in environmental conditions. Certainly, the influences of area and EH complement each other (Triantis et al., 2005; Hannus & von Numers, 2008). One way to account for additive effects of area and EH is to extend the power model of the species-area relationship by supplementing area with a multiplicative term of area and the number of habitat types (Triantis et al., 2003). The individual effects of area and EH are often hard to distinguish, particularly as many EH measures are highly correlated with area (Ricklefs & Lovette, 1999). Also topography correlates not only with heterogeneity in environmental conditions but also with surface area (Ferrer-Castán & Vetaas, 2005). Triantis et al. (2008aa), however, found that the inclusion of an EH measure led to a significantly higher improvement of species richness models than substituting planar area by actual surface area of topographically diverse islands. By contrast, Beck & Kitching (2009) reported that while surface area of elevational bands was a better predictor of species richness than planar area, they did not find any evidence for an effect of habitat heterogeneity on species–area relationships.

To minimize confounding of EH and area, it is desirable to control for direct area effects by analysing EH across units of equal or similar sizes (Stein et al., 2014). The study units in our dataset included plots, grid cells, and irregular shapes, such as forest fragments, islands, nature reserves, and countries. Less than half of the studies in our review contained units of uniform area. While plots or grid cells can easily be defined as equal area units (assuming a flat plane; also see Nogués-Bravo & Araújo, 2006), varying plot sizes and grid cells delimited by degrees instead of area have also been widely used. A way to cope with differences in area of shapes such as islands has been the analysis of subsets of similar-sized units (e.g. Davidar, Yoganand & Ganesh, 2001). Controlling for area through statistical methods, by contrast, in cases seems problematic because of the above-mentioned collinearity between EH and area (compare Whittaker, Willis & Field, 2001).

III. CONCLUSIONS

(1) Environmental heterogeneity-richness relationships are a central topic in ecology and biogeography. At the same time, EH is a highly diverse topic that has motivated many different quantification methods and concepts. Despite the high variability in study settings and methodology, some clear trends emerged from our systematic literature review. (i) There is a significant bias towards studies on land cover EH in the Palaearctic and an under-representation of studies on invertebrates, climatic EH, and soil EH, at least at the scales considered here. Patterns in spatial scales, habitat types, and study taxa differ among subject areas. The fact that topographic EH is the predominant subject area in studies across multiple habitat types suggests that topographic measures are often used as proxies, e.g. for climatic or land cover EH, because direct measures of the latter are not as easily available. (ii) Considerably more measures have been used for land cover and vegetation EH than for topographic EH. Overall, the most frequently used measure was elevation range, followed by the number and diversity indices of land cover types and plant species. Despite the high variability in measures, similar calculation methods reoccur across studies. (iii) The investigated subject areas and study systems were partly associated with the assumed mechanisms behind EH-richness relationships. Most studies related to increased niche space and diverse resources provided by higher EH, which mostly involved vegetation EH in these studies. (iv) To understand better the effects of EH on species richness, future studies should include comparisons across spatial scales and across measures, involving both different subject areas and calculation methods. Besides these recommendations for future study designs, a comparative re-analysis of existing datasets evaluating multiple standardized measures has great potential for fostering synthesis.

(2) The terminology used in the context of EH is ambiguous and lacks a clear consensus about concepts and meanings of terms. There is a tendency towards the use of 'diversity', 'structure', and 'complexity' in relation to EH quantified by count or index measures, whereas 'heterogeneity' relates more often to environmental gradients quantified by range measures. By contrast, in the landscape context, percentage measures are most frequently used to quantify 'landscape complexity/heterogeneity/structure'. These trends are impaired by the common use of synonyms without clear delimitations in many studies. We therefore encourage authors to be precise in their terminology and definitions and to avoid using multiple synonymous terms and measure names unless necessary. A consistent terminology promotes understanding, is essential for synthesis, and should foster advancement of the whole field.

(3) It was not our aim to choose or propose one single, optimal EH measure. This would in fact be highly difficult to generalize, as the most appropriate measure always depends on the study system of interest. We hope that our review will guide researchers in choosing relevant, taxonand ecosystem-specific measures as potential proxies of the processes of interest. Distinguishing between effects of EH on species coexistence, persistence, and diversification should help to link measures with underlying mechanisms.

IV. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank all authors who answered our queries and provided additional information about their studies. We are grateful to Jan Beck, Arne Erpenbach, Yael Kisel, and an anonymous referee for useful comments on previous versions of the manuscript. We also thank William Foster and Alison Cooper for their helpful editorial assistance. Special thanks are extended to Arne Erpenbach for his invaluable help in the coding of studies and GIS analyses. This study was supported by the German Research Council (DFG) in the framework of the German Excellence Initiative within the Free Floater Program at the University of Göttingen.

V. REFERENCES

- References marked with asterisk in the surname have been cited within the supporting information or have been used in the meta-analysis (some of these references are not cited in the text).
- ACKERMAN, J. D., TREJO-TORRES, J. C. & CRESPO-CHUY, Y. (2007). Orchids of the West Indies: predictability of diversity and endemism. *Journal of Biogeography* 34, 779–786.
- *ADAMS, J. M. & WOODWARD, F. I. (1989). Patterns in tree species richness as a test of the glacial extinction hypothesis. *Nature* 339, 699–701.
- *ADLER, G. H. (1994). Avifaunal diversity and endemism on tropical Indian Ocean islands. *Journal of Biogeography* **21**, 85–95.
- *ALDASORO, J. J., CABEZAS, F. & AEDO, C. (2004). Diversity and distribution of ferms in sub-Saharan Africa, Madagascar and some islands of the South Atlantic. *Journal* of Biogeography **31**, 1579–1604.
- ALLOUCHE, O., KALYUZHNY, M., MORENO-RUEDA, G., PIZARRO, M. & KADMON, R. (2012). Area-heterogeneity tradeoff and the diversity of ecological communities. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 109, 17495–17500.

- ALLOUCHE, O., KALYUZHNY, M., MORENO-RUEDA, G., PIZARRO, M. & KADMON, R. (2013). Reply to Hortal et al.: patterns of bird distribution in Spain support the area-heterogeneity tradeoff. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 110, E2151–E2152.
- *ANDERSON, T. M., METZGER, K. L. & MCNAUGHTON, S. J. (2007). Multi-scale analysis of plant species richness in Serengeti grasslands. *Journal of Biogeography* 34, 313–323.
- ANDREWS, P. & O'BRIEN, E. M. (2000). Climate, vegetation, and predictable gradients in mammal species richness in southern Africa. *Journal of Zoology* 251, 205–231.
- ANTONELLI, A. & SANMARTÍN, I. (2011). Why are there so many plant species in the Neotropics? *Taxon* 60, 403–414.
- ARAÚJO, A. P. A., DE PAULA, J. D., CARNEIRO, M. A. A. & SCHOEREDER, J. H. (2006). Effects of host plant architecture on colonization by galling insects. *Austral Ecology* 31, 343–348.
- *ATAURI, J. A. & DE LUCIO, J. V. (2001). The role of landscape structure in species richness distribution of birds, amphibians, reptiles and lepidopterans in Mediterranean landscapes. *Landscape Ecology* 16, 147–159.
- AUGUST, P. V. (1983). The role of habitat complexity and heterogeneity in structuring tropical mammal communities. *Ecology* 64, 1495–1507.
- *BALDI, A. (2008). Habitat heterogeneity overrides the species-area relationship. *Journal of Biogeography* 35, 675–681.
- *BARBARO, L., PONTCHARRAUD, L., VETILLARD, F., GUYON, D. & JACTEL, H. (2005). Comparative responses of bird, carabid, and spider assemblages to stand and landscape diversity in maritime pine plantation forests. *Ecoscience* 12, 110–121.
- BARRACLOUGH, T. G. & VOGLER, A. P. (2000). Detecting the geographical pattern of speciation from species-level phylogenies. *The American Naturalist* 155, 419–434.
- BATÁRY, P., BÁLDI, A., SZÉL, G., PODLUSSÁNY, A., ROZNER, I. & ERDŐS, S. (2007). Responses of grassland specialist and generalist beetles to management and landscape complexity. *Diversity and Distributions* 13, 196–202.
- *BAZ, A. & GARCÍA-BOYERO, A. (1995). The effects of forest fragmentation on butterfly communities in central Spain. *Journal of Biogeography* 22, 129–140.
- BECK, J., BALLESTEROS-MEJIA, L., BUCHMANN, C. M., DENGLER, J., FRITZ, S. A., GRUBER, B., HOF, C., JANSEN, F., KNAPP, S., KREFT, H., SCHNEIDER, A.-K., WINTER, M. & DORMANN, C. F. (2012). What's on the horizon for macroecology? *Ecography* 35, 673–683.
- BECK, J. & KITCHING, I. J. (2009). Drivers of moth species richness on tropical altitudinal gradients: a cross-regional comparison. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 18, 361–371.
- *BELLOCQ, M. I. & GÓMEZ-INSAUSTI, R. (2005). Raptorial birds and environmental gradients in the southern Neotropics: a test of species-richness hypotheses. *Austral Ecology* **30**, 892–898.
- *BINO, G., LEVIN, N., DARAWSHI, S., VAN DER HAL, N., REICH-SOLOMON, A. & KARK, S. (2008). Accurate prediction of bird species richness patterns in an urban environment using Landsat-derived NDVI and spectral unmixing. *International Journal* of *Remote Sensing* 29, 3675–3700.
- *BLAIR, R. (2004). The effects of urban sprawl on birds at multiple levels of biological organization. *Ecology and Society* 9(5): 2. [online] URL: http://www.ecologyandsociety.org/vol9/iss5/art2/.
- *BLAKE, J. G. & KARR, J. R. (1987). Breeding birds of isolated woodlots: area and habitat relationships. *Ecology* 68, 1724–1734.
- BÖHNING-GAESE, K. (1997). Determinants of avian species richness at different spatial scales. *Journal of Biogeography* 24, 49–60.
- *BOOMSMA, J. J., MABELIS, A. A., VERBEEK, M. G. M. & LOS, E. C. (1987). Insular biogeography and distribution ecology of ants on the Frisian islands. *Journal of Biogeography* 14, 21–37.
- *BOWMAN, D. M. J. S. (1996). Diversity patterns of woody species on a latitudinal transect from the monsoon tropics to desert in the Northern Territory, Australia. *Australian Journal of Botany* 44, 571–580.
- BROWN, K. S. Jr. & FREITAS, A. V. L. (2000). Atlantic Forest butterflies: indicators for landscape conservation. *Biotropica* 32, 934–956.
- BRUNET, A. K. & MEDELLÍN, R. A. (2001). The species-area relationship in bat assemblages of tropical caves. *Journal of Manunalogy* 82, 1114–1122.
- *CASE, T. J. (1975). Species numbers, density compensation, and colonizing ability of lizards on islands in the Gulf of California. *Ecology* 56, 3–18.
- *CHOI, S.-W. (2004). Trends in butterfly species richness in response to the peninsular effect in South Korea. *Journal of Biogeography* 31, 587–592.
- CHOWN, S. L., GREMMEN, N. J. M. & GASTON, K. J. (1998). Ecological biogeography of Southern Ocean islands: species-area relationships, human impacts, and conservation. *The American Naturalist* 152, 562–575.
- *CLOUGH, Y., KRUESS, A., KLEIJN, D. & TSCHARNTKE, T. (2005). Spider diversity in cereal fields: comparing factors at local, landscape and regional scales. *Journal of Biogeography* 32, 2007–2014.
- *COUSIN, J. A. & PHILLIPS, R. D. (2008). Habitat complexity explains species-specific occupancy but not species richness in a Western Australian woodland. *Australian Journal of Zoology* 56, 95–102.
- *COWIE, R. H. (1995). Variation in species diversity and shell shape in Hawaiian land snails: in situ speciation and ecological relationships. *Evolution* 49, 1191–1202.

- COWLING, R. M. & LOMBARD, A. T. (2002). Heterogeneity, speciation/extinction history and climate: explaining regional plant diversity patterns in the Cape Floristic Region. *Diversity and Distributions* 8, 163–179.
- *CUEVAS-REVES, P., QUESADA, M., HANSON, P., DIRZO, R. & OYAMA, K. (2004). Diversity of gall-inducing insects in a Mexican tropical dry forest: the importance of plant species richness, life-forms, host plant age and plant density. *Journal of Ecology* 92, 707–716.
- CURRIE, D. J. (1991). Energy and large-scale patterns of animal- and plant-species richness. *The American Naturalist* 137, 27–49.
- *CUSHMAN, S. A. & MCGARIGAL, K. (2003). Landscape-level patterns of avian diversity in the Oregon Coast Range. *Ecological Monographs* 73, 259–281.
- DANELL, K., LUNDBERG, P. & NIEMELÄ, P. (1996). Species richness in mammalian herbivores: patterns in the boreal zone. *Ecography* 19, 404–409.
- DAVIDAR, P., YOGANAND, K. & GANESH, T. (2001). Distribution of forest birds in the Andaman islands: importance of key habitats. *Journal of Biogeography* 28, 663–671.
- *DENNIS, R. L. H., SHREEVE, T. G., OLIVIER, A. & COUTSIS, J. G. (2000). Contemporary geography dominates butterfly diversity gradients within the Aegean archipelago (Lepidoptera: Papilionoidea, Hesperioidea). *Journal of Biogeography* 27, 1365–1383.
- DESHAYE, J. & MORISSET, P. (1988). Floristic richness, area, and habitat diversity in a hemiarctic archipelago. *Journal of Biogeography* **15**, 747–757.
- *DEVY, M. S., GANESH, T. & DAVIDAR, P. (1998). Patterns of butterfly distribution in the Andaman islands: implications for conservation. *Acta Oecologica* 19, 527–534.
- DINERSTEIN, E., OLSON, D., ATCHLEY, J., LOUCKS, C., CONTRERAS-BALDERAS, S., ABELL, R., IÑIGO, E., ENKERLIN, E., WILLIAMS, C. & CASTILLEJA, G. (2000). Ecoregion-based Conservation in the Chihuahuan Desert: a Biological Assessment. WWF, CONABIO, The Nature Conservancy, PRONATURA Noreste, ITESM.
- *DING, T.-S., YUAN, H.-W., GENG, S., KOH, C.-N. & LEE, P.-F. (2006). Macro-scale bird species richness patterns of the East Asian mainland and islands: energy, area and isolation. *Journal of Biogeography* 33, 683–693.
- DURÃES, R. & LOISELLE, B. Á. (2004). Inter-scale relationship between species richness and environmental heterogeneity: a study case with antbirds in the Brazilian Atlantic forest. *Omitologia Neotropical* 15, 127–135.
- *ERNST, L. M., DORRESTEIJN, I. & FISCHER, J. (2012). The effects of landscape heterogeneity on farmland birds. In 42nd Annual Meeting of the Ecological Society of Germany, Austria and Switzerland. Lüneburg, Germany
- ESRI (2010). ArcMap. Environmental Systems Research Institute, Redlands.
- ETTEMA, C. H. & WARDLE, D. A. (2002). Spatial soil ecology. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 17, 177-183.
- *EWALD, J. (2002). Multiple controls of understorey plant richness in mountain forests of the Bavarian Alps. *Phytocenologia* 32, 85–100.
- FAHRIG, L. (2003). Effects of habitat fragmentation on biodiversity. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 34, 487–515.
- FAHRIG, L., BAUDRY, J., BROTONS, L., BUREL, F. G., CRIST, T. O., FULLER, R. J., SIRAMI, C., SIRIWARDENA, G. M. & MARTIN, J. L. (2011). Functional landscape heterogeneity and animal biodiversity in agricultural landscapes. *Ecology Letters* 14, 101–112.
- *FATTORINI, S. (2006). Spatial patterns of diversity in the tenebrionid beetles (Coleoptera, Tenebrionidae) of the Aegean Islands (Greece). Evolutionary Ecology Research 8, 237–263.
- FEENY, P. (1976). Plant apparency and chemical defense. *Recent Advances in Phytochemistry* 10, 1–40.
- FERRER-CASTÁN, D. & VETAAS, O. R. (2005). Pteridophyte richness, climate and topography in the Iberian Peninsula: comparing spatial and nonspatial models of richness patterns. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 14, 155–165.
- FIELD, R., HAWKINS, B. A., CORNELL, H. V., CURRIE, D. J., DINIZ-FILHO, J. A. F., GUÉGAN, J. F., KAUFMAN, D. M., KERR, J. T., MITTELBACH, G. G., OBERDORFF, T., O'BRIEN, E. M. & TURNER, J. R. G. (2009). Spatial species-richness gradients across scales: a meta-analysis. *Journal of Biogeography* 36, 132–147.
- FINCH, O. D., BLICK, T. & SCHULDT, A. (2008). Macroecological patterns of spider species richness across Europe. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 17, 2849–2868.
- *FIRBANK, L. G., PETIT, S., SMART, S., BLAIN, A. & FULLER, R. J. (2008). Assessing the impacts of agricultural intensification on biodiversity: a British perspective. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 363, 777–787.
- *FISCHER, C., THIES, C. & TSCHARNTKE, T. (2011). Small mammals in agricultural landscapes: opposing responses to farming practices and landscape complexity. *Biological Conservation* 144, 1130–1136.
- FLØJGAARD, C., NORMAND, S., SKOV, F. & SVENNING, J.-C. (2011). Deconstructing the mammal species richness pattern in Europe – towards an understanding of the relative importance of climate, biogeographic history, habitat heterogeneity and humans. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 20, 218–230.
- *Fox, B. J. & Fox, M. D. (2000). Factors determining mammal species richness on habitat islands and isolates: habitat diversity, disturbance, species interactions and guild assembly rules. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 9, 19–37.
- FRASER, R. H. (1998). Vertebrate species richness at the mesoscale: relative roles of energy and heterogeneity. *Global Ecology and Biogeography Letters* 7, 215–220.
- FREED, L. A., CONANT, S. & FLEISCHER, R. C. (1987). Evolutionary ecology and radiation of Hawaiian passerine birds. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 2, 196–203.

- *GABRIEL, D., THIES, C. & TSCHARNTKE, T. (2005). Local diversity of arable weeds increases with landscape complexity. *Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution and Systematics* 7, 85–93.
- *GALLEY, C., LINDER, H. P. & ZIMMERMANN, N. E. (2009). Pentaschistis (Poaceae) diversity in the Cape mediterranean region: habitat heterogeneity and climate stability. Global Ecology and Biogeography 18, 586–595.
- *GANZHORN, J. U., MALCOMBER, S., ANDRIANANTOANINA, O. & GOODMAN, S. M. (1997). Habitat characteristics and lemur species richness in Madagascar. *Biotropica* 29, 331–343.
- GARDEN, J. G., MCALPINE, C. A. & POSSINGHAM, H. P. (2010). Multi-scaled habitat considerations for conserving urban biodiversity: native reptiles and small mammals in Brisbane, Australia. *Landscape Ecology* 25, 1013–1028.
- GAZOL, A., TAMME, R., PRICE, J. N., HHESALU, I., LAANISTO, L. & PÄRTEL, M. (2013). A negative heterogeneity–diversity relationship found in experimental grassland communities. *Oecologia* 173, 545–555.
- *GILLESPIE, T. W. & WALTER, H. (2001). Distribution of bird species richness at a regional scale in tropical dry forest of Central America. *Journal of Biogeography* 28, 651–662.
- GIVNISH, T.J. (2010). Ecology of plant speciation. Taxon 59, 1326-1366.
- GONÇALVES-ALVIM, S. J. & FERNANDES, G. W. (2001). Biodiversity of galling insects: historical, community and habitat effects in four neotropical savannas. *Biodiversity* and Conservation 10, 79–98.
- *GONZÁLEZ-MEGÍAS, A., GÓMEZ, J. M. & SÁNCHEZ-PIÑERO, F. (2007). Diversity-habitat heterogeneity relationship at different spatial and temporal scales. *Ecography* **30**, 31–41.
- GRELLE, C. E. V. (2003). Forest structure and vertical stratification of small mammals in a secondary Atlantic forest, southeastern Brazil. *Studies on Neotropical Fauna and Environment* 38, 81–85.
- *GRILL, A., KNOFLACH, B., CLEARY, D. F. R. & KATI, V. (2005). Butterfly, spider, and plant communities in different land-use types in Sardinia, Italy. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 14, 1281–1300.
- *HABERL, H., PLUTZAR, C., ERB, K.-H., GAUBE, V., POLLHEIMER, M. & SCHULZ, N. B. (2005). Human appropriation of net primary production as determinant of avifauna diversity in Austria. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 110, 119–131.
- *HAILA, Y. (1983). Land birds on northern islands: a sampling metaphor for insular colonization. Oikos 41, 334-351.
- *HAMILTON, T. H. & ARMSTRONG, N. E. (1965). Environmental determination of insular variation in bird species abundance in the Gulf of Guinea. *Nature* 207, 148–151.
- *HAMILTON, T. H., BARTH, R. H. Jr. & RUBINOFF, I. (1964). The environmental control of insular variation in bird species abundance. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 52, 132–140.
- HAMILTON, T. H., RUBINOFF, I., BARTH, R. H. & BUSH, G. L. (1963). Species abundance: natural regulation of insular variation. *Science* 142, 1575–1577.
- HANNUS, J.-J. & VON NUMERS, M. (2008). Vascular plant species richness in relation to habitat diversity and island area in the Finnish Archipelago. *Journal of Biogeography* 35, 1077–1086.
- HARNER, R. F. & HARPER, K. T. (1976). The role of area, heterogeneity, and favorability in plant species diversity of pinyon-juniper ecosystems. *Ecology* 57, 1254–1263.
- *HARRIS, M. P. (1973). The Galápagos avifauna. The Condor 75, 265–278.
- HAWKINS, B. A., FIELD, R., CORNELL, H. V., CURRIE, D. J., GUÉGAN, J. F., KAUFMAN, D. M., KERR, J. T., MITTELBACH, G. G., OBERDORFF, T., O'BRIEN, E. M., PORTER, E. E. & TURNER, J. R. G. (2003). Energy, water, and broad-scale geographic patterns of species richness. *Ecology* 84, 3105–3117.
- *HAWKINS, B. A. & PORTER, E. E. (2003). Does herbivore diversity depend on plant diversity? The case of California butterflies. *The American Naturalist* 161, 40–49.
- HEANEY, L. R. (2001). Small mammal diversity along elevational gradients in the Philippines: an assessment of patterns and hypotheses. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 10, 15–39.
- HEATWOLE, H. (1991). Factors affecting the number of species of plants on islands of the Great Barrier Reef, Australia. *Journal of Biogeography* 18, 213–221.
- *HENDERSON, R. W. (2004). Lesser Antillean snake faunas: distribution, ecology, and conservation concerns. *Oryx* **38**, 311–320.
- *HIETZ, P. & HIETZ-SEIFERT, U. (1995). Composition and ecology of vascular epiphyte communities along an altitudinal gradient in central Veracruz, Mexico. *Journal of Vegetation Science* **6**, 487–498.
- *HOFER, G., WAGNER, H. H., HERZOG, F. & EDWARDS, P. J. (2008). Effects of topographic variability on the scaling of plant species richness in gradient dominated landscapes. *Ecography* 31, 131–139.
- HOMEIER, J., BRECKLE, S.-W., GÜNTER, S., ROLLENBECK, R. T. & LEUSCHNER, C. (2010). Tree diversity, forest structure and productivity along altitudinal and topographical gradients in a species-rich Ecuadorian montane rain forest. *Biotropica* 42, 140–148.
- *HONNAY, O., PIESSENS, K., VAN LANDUVT, W., HERMY, M. & GULINCK, H. (2003). Satellite based land use and landscape complexity indices as predictors for regional plant species diversity. *Landscape and Urban Planning* **63**, 241–250.

- HORTAL, J., CARRASCAL, L. M., TRIANTIS, K. A., THÉBAULT, E., MEIRI, S. & SFENTHOURAKIS, S. (2013). Species richness can decrease with altitude but not with habitat diversity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 110, E2149–E2150.
- HORTAL, J., TRIANTIS, K. A., MEIRI, S., THÉBAULT, E. & SFENTHOURAKIS, S. (2009). Island species richness increases with habitat diversity. *The American Naturalist* 174, E205–E217.
- *HORVÁTH, A., MARCH, I. J. & WOLF, J. H. D. (2001). Rodent diversity and land use in Montebello, Chiapas, Mexico. Studies on Neotropical Fauna and Environment 36, 169–176.
- HUGHES, C. & EASTWOOD, R. (2006). Island radiation on a continental scale: exceptional rates of plant diversification after uplift of the Andes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 103, 10334–10339.
- *HUMPHREY, J. W., HAWES, C., PEACE, A. J., FERRIS-KAAN, R. & JUKES, M. R. (1999). Relationships between insect diversity and habitat characteristics in plantation forests. *Forest Ecology and Management* **113**, 11–21.
- HUSTON, M. A. (1994). Biological Diversity. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- HUTCHINGS, M. J., JOHN, E. A. & WIJESINGHE, D. K. (2003). Toward understanding the consequences of soil heterogeneity for plant populations and communities. *Ecology* 84, 2322–2334.
- HUTCHINSON, G. E. (1959). Homage to Santa Rosalia or why are there so many kinds of animals? *The American Naturalist* **93**, 145–159.
- *IIDA, S. & NAKASHIZUKA, T. (1995). Forest fragmentation and its effect on species diversity in sub-urban coppice forests in Japan. *Forest Ecology and Management* 73, 197–210.
- JAMES, F. C. & WAMER, N. O. (1982). Relationships between temperate forest bird communities and vegetation structure. *Ecology* 63, 159–171.
- JANZEN, D. (1967). Why mountain passes are higher in the tropics. The American Naturalist 101, 233-249.
- JETZ, W., KREFT, H., CEBALLOS, G. & MUTKE, J. (2009). Global associations between terrestrial producer and vertebrate consumer diversity. *Proceedings of the Royal Society* B: Biological Sciences 276, 269–278.
- *JIANG, Y., KANG, M., GAO, Q., HE, L., XIONG, M., JIA, Z. & JIN, Z. (2003). Impact of land use on plant biodiversity and measures for biodiversity conservation in the Loess Plateau in China – a case study in a hilly-gully region of the Northern Loess Plateau. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 12, 2121–2133.
- *JIMÉNEZ-VALVERDE, A. & LOBO, J. M. (2007). Determinants of local spider (Araneidae and Thomisidae) species richness on a regional scale: climate and altitude vs. habitat structure. *Ecological Entomology* **32**, 113–122.
- JOHNSON, N. K. (1975). Controls of number of bird species on montane islands in the Great Basin. *Evolution* 29, 545–567.
- JOHNSON, M. P. & SIMBERLOFF, D. S. (1974). Environmental determinants of island species numbers in the British Isles. *Journal of Biogeography* 1, 149–154.
- JOLY, K. & MYERS, W. L. (2001). Patterns of mammalian species richness and habitat associations in Pennsylvania. *Biological Conservation* 99, 253-260.
- JONSEN, I. & FAHRIG, L. (1997). Response of generalist and specialist insect herbivores to landscape spatial structure. *Landscape Ecology* 12, 185–197.
- *JÜRIADO, I., SUIJA, A. & LIIRA, J. (2006). Biogeographical determinants of lichen species diversity on islets in the West-Estonian Archipelago. *Journal of Vegetation Science* 17, 125–134.
- KADMON, R. & ALLOUCHE, O. (2007). Integrating the effects of area, isolation, and habitat heterogeneity on species diversity: a unification of island biogeography and niche theory. *The American Naturalist* **170**, 443–454.
- KALLIMANIS, A. S., BERGMEIER, E., PANITSA, M., GEORGHIOU, K., DELIPETROU, P. & DIMOPOULOS, P. (2010). Biogeographical determinants for total and endemic species richness in a continental archipelago. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 19, 1225–1235.
- KARR, J. R. & ROTH, R. R. (1971). Vegetation structure and avian diversity in several New World areas. *The American Naturalist* 105, 423–435.
- KATI, V., DIMOPOULOS, P., PAPAIOANNOU, H. & POIRAZIDIS, K. (2009). Ecological management of a Mediterranean mountainous reserve (Pindos National Park, Greece) using the bird community as an indicator. *Journal for Nature Conservation* 17, 47–59.
- KAY, K. M., REEVES, P. A., OLMSTEAD, R. G. & SCHEMSKE, D. W. (2005). Rapid speciation and the evolution of hummingbird pollination in neotropical Costus subgenus Costus (Costaceae): evidence from nrDNA ITS and ETS sequences. *American Journal of Botany* 92, 1899–1910.
- *KERLEY, G. I. H. (1992). Ecological correlates of small mammal community structure in the semi-arid Karoo, South Africa. *Journal of Zoology* 227, 17–27.
- KERR, J. T. & PACKER, L. (1997). Habitat heterogeneity as a determinant of mammal species richness in high-energy regions. *Nature* 385, 252–254.
- *KERR, J. T. & PACKER, L. (1999). The environmental basis of North American species richness patterns among *Epicauta* (Coleoptera: Meloidae). *Biodiversity and Conservation* 8, 617–628.
- KISEL, Y., MCINNES, L., TOOMEY, N. H. & ORME, C. D. L. (2011). How diversification rates and diversity limits combine to create large-scale species-area relationships. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society, B: Biological Sciences* 366, 2514–2525.

- KISSLING, W. D., FIELD, R. & BÖHNING-GAESE, K. (2008). Spatial patterns of woody plant and bird diversity: functional relationships or environmental effects? *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 17, 327–339.
- KISSLING, W. D., RAHBEK, C. & BÖHNING-GAESE, K. (2007). Food plant diversity as broad-scale determinant of avian frugivore richness. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 274, 799–808.
- KITCHENER, D. J. (1982). Predictors of vertebrate species richness in nature reserves in the Western Australian wheatbelt. Australian Wildlife Research 9, 1–7.
- *KOCHER, S. D. & WILLIAMS, E. H. (2000). The diversity and abundance of North American butterflies vary with habitat disturbance and geography. *Journal of Biogeography* 27, 785–794.
- *KOH, L. P., SODHI, N. S., TAN, H. T. W. & PEH, K. S.-H. (2002). Factors affecting the distribution of vascular plants, springtails, butterflies and birds on small tropical islands. *Journal of Biogeography* 29, 93–108.
- KOHN, D. D. & WALSH, D. M. (1994). Plant species richness the effect of island size and habitat diversity. *Journal of Ecology* 82, 367–377.
- KOLASA, J. & ROLLO, C. D. (1991). Introduction: the heterogeneity of heterogeneity: a glossary. In Ecological Heterogeneity (eds J. KOLASA and S. T. A. PICKETT), pp. 1–23. Springer-Verlag, New York.
- KÖRNER, C. (2000). Why are there global gradients in species richness? Mountains might hold the answer. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 15, 513–514.
- *KOTZE, D. J., NIEMELÄ, J. & NIEMINEN, M. (2000). Colonization success of carabid beetles on Baltic islands. *Journal of Biogeography* 27, 807–819.
- KRAUSS, J., KLEIN, A.-M., STEFFAN-DEWENTER, I. & TSCHARNTKE, T. (2004). Effects of habitat area, isolation, and landscape diversity on plant species richness of calcareous grasslands. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 13, 1427–1439.
- *KRAUSS, J., STEFFAN-DEWENTER, I. & TSCHARNTKE, T. (2003). How does landscape context contribute to effects of habitat fragmentation on diversity and population density of butterflies? *Journal of Biogeography* **30**, 889–900.
- KREFT, H., JETZ, W., MUTKE, J., KIER, G. & BARTHLOTT, W. (2008). Global diversity of island floras from a macroecological perspective. *Ecology Letters* 11, 116–127.
- *KREFT, H., SOMMER, J. H. & BARTHLOTT, W. (2006). The significance of geographic range size for spatial diversity patterns in Neotropical palms. *Ecography* 29, 21–30.
- KUMAR, S., SIMONSON, S. E. & STOHLGREN, T. J. (2009). Effects of spatial heterogeneity on butterfly species richness in Rocky Mountain National Park, CO, USA. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 18, 739–763.
- *KUMAR, S., STOHLGREN, T. J. & CHONG, G. W. (2006). Spatial heterogeneity influences native and nonnative plant species richness. *Ecology* 87, 3186–3199.
- LAANISTO, L., TAMME, R., HHESALU, I., SZAVA-KOVATS, R., GAZOL, A. & PÄRTEL, M. (2013). Microfragmentation concept explains non-positive environmental heterogeneity-diversity relationships. *Oecologia* 171, 217–226.
- *LARA, A. C. F., FERNANDES, G. W. & GONÇALVES-ALVIM, S. J. (2002). Tests of hypotheses on patterns of gall distribution along an altitudinal gradient. *Tropical* Zoology 15, 219–232.
- *LASSAU, S. A. & HOCHULI, D. F. (2004). Effects of habitat complexity on ant assemblages. *Ecography* 27, 157–164.
- LASSAU, S. A. & HOCHULI, D. F. (2005). Wasp community responses to habitat complexity in Sydney sandstone forests. *Austral Ecology* **30**, 179–187.
- LAWTON, J. H. (1983). Plant architecture and the diversity of phytophagous insects. Annual Review of Entomology 28, 23–39.
- LEMS, K. (1960). Botanical notes on the Canary Islands II. The evolution of plant forms in the islands: Aconium. *Ecology* 41, 1–17.
- *LENIÈRE, A. & HOULE, G. (2006). Response of herbaceous plant diversity to reduced structural diversity in maple-dominated (*Acer saccharum* Marsh.) forests managed for sap extraction. *Forest Ecology and Management* 231, 94–104.
- *LENNON, J. J., GREENWOOD, J. J. D. & TURNER, J. R. G. (2000). Bird diversity and environmental gradients in Britain: a test of the species-energy hypothesis. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 69, 581–598.
- *LEVIN, N., SHMIDA, A., LEVANONI, O., TAMARI, H. & KARK, S. (2007). Predicting mountain plant richness and rarity from space using satellite-derived vegetation indices. *Diversity and Distributions* 13, 692–703.
- LI, H. & REYNOLDS, J. (1995). On definition and quantification of heterogeneity. Oikos 73, 280–284.
- *LINDER, H. P. (1991). Environmental correlates of patterns of species richness in the south-western Cape Province of South Africa. *Journal of Biogeography* 18, 509–518.
- *LOBO, J. M., CASTRO, I. & MORENO, J. C. (2001). Spatial and environmental determinants of vascular plant species richness distribution in the Iberian Peninsula and Balearic Islands. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* 73, 233–253.
- *Losos, J. B. (1986). Island biogeography of day geckos (*Phelsuma*) in the Indian Ocean. *Oecologia* **68**, 338–343.
- LUNDHOLM, J. T. (2009). Plant species diversity and environmental heterogeneity: spatial scale and competing hypotheses. *Journal of Vegetation Science* 20, 377–391.
- MA, M. (2008). Multi-scale responses of plant species diversity in semi-natural buffer strips to agricultural landscapes. *Applied Vegetation Science* 11, 269–278.
- MACARTHUR, R. H. (1972). Geographical Ecology: Patterns in the Distribution of Species. Princeton University Press, Princeton.
- MACARTHUR, R. & MACARTHUR, J. W. (1961). On bird species diversity. *Ecology* 42, 594–598.

MACARTHUR, R. H. & WILSON, E. O. (1963). An equilibrium theory of insular zoogeography. *Evolution* 17, 373–387.

- MACARTHUR, R. H. & WILSON, E. O. (1967). *The Theory of Island Biogeography*. Princeton University Press, Princeton.
- MADIN, J. S., BOWERS, S., SCHILDHAUER, M. P. & JONES, M. B. (2008). Advancing ecological research with ontologies. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 23, 159–168.
- *MAES, D., GILBERT, M., TITEUX, N., GOFFART, P. & DENNIS, R. L. H. (2003). Prediction of butterfly diversity hotspots in Belgium: a comparison of statistically focused and land use-focused models. *Journal of Biogeography* **30**, 1907–1920.
- MARINI, L., BOMMARCO, R., FONTANA, P. & BATTISTI, A. (2010). Disentangling effects of habitat diversity and area on orthopteran species with contrasting mobility. *Biological Conservation* 143, 2164–2171.
- *MARINI, L., BONA, E., KUNIN, W. E. & GASTON, K. J. (2011). Exploring anthropogenic and natural processes shaping fern species richness along elevational gradients. *Journal of Biogeography* 38, 78–88.
- *MARINI, L., PROSSER, F., KLIMEK, S. & MARRS, R. H. (2008). Water-energy, land-cover and heterogeneity drivers of the distribution of plant species richness in a mountain region of the European Alps. *Journal of Biogeography* 35, 1826–1839.
- MARTIN, L. J., BLOSSEY, B. & ELLIS, E. (2012). Mapping where ecologists work: biases in the global distribution of terrestrial ecological observations. *Frontiers in Ecology and* the Environment 10, 195–201.
- *MARTÍNEZ-MORALES, M. A. (2005). Landscape patterns influencing bird assemblages in a fragmented neotropical cloud forest. *Biological Conservation* **121**, 117–126.
- McCoy, E. D. & BELL, S. S. (1991). Habitat structure: the evolution and diversification of a complex topic. In *Habitat Structure: the Physical Arrangement of Objects in Space* (eds S. S. BELL, E. D. MCCOY and H. R. MUSHINSKY), pp. 3–27. Chapman & Hall, London.
- *MCELHINNY, C., GIBBONS, P., BRACK, C. & BAUHUS, J. (2005). Forest and woodland stand structural complexity: its definition and measurement. *Forest Ecology* and Management 218, 1–24.
- MCGARIGAL, K. & MARKS, B.J. (1995). Spatial pattern analysis program for quantifying landscape structure. General Technical Report No. PNW-GTR-351. US Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station, Oregon State University, Corvallis.
- MCVICAR, T. & KÖRNER, C. (2013). On the use of elevation, altitude, and height in the ecological and climatological literature. *Oecologia* 171, 335–337.
- *MÉDAIL, F. & VIDAL, E. (1998). Organisation de la richesse et de la composition floristiques d'îles de la Méditerranée occidentale (sud-est de la France). Canadian Journal of Botany 76, 321–331.
- *MEDELLÍN, R. A. (1994). Mammal diversity and conservation in the Selva Lacandona, Chiapas, Mexico. Conservation Biology 8, 780–799.
- MENENDEZ, R., GONZALEZ-MEGIAS, A., COLLINGHAM, Y., FOX, R., ROY, D. B., OHLEMULLER, R. & THOMAS, C. D. (2007). Direct and indirect effects of climate and habitat factors on butterfly diversity. *Ecology* 88, 605–611.
- MENGE, B. A. & SUTHERLAND, J. P. (1976). Species diversity gradients: synthesis of the roles of predation, competition, and temporal heterogeneity. *The American Naturalist* 110, 351–369.
- *MESERVE, P. L. & GLANZ, W. E. (1978). Geographical ecology of small mammals in the northern Chilean arid zone. *Journal of Biogeography* 5, 135–148.
- *MEYER, B., JAUKER, F. & STEFFAN-DEWENTER, I. (2009). Contrasting resource-dependent responses of hoverfly richness and density to landscape structure. *Basic and Applied Ecology* **10**, 178–186.
- *MIKK, M. & MANDER, Ü. (1995). Species diversity of forest islands in agricultural landscapes of southern Finland, Estonia and Lithuania. *Landscape and Urban Planning* 31, 153–169.
- *MILLIEN-PARRA, V. & JAEGER, J.-J. (1999). Island biogeography of the Japanese terrestrial mammal assemblages: an example of a relict fauna. *Journal of Biogeography* 26, 959–972.
- *MONADJEM, A. (1999). Geographic distribution patterns of small mammals in Swaziland in relation to abiotic factors and human land-use activity. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 8, 223–237.
- *MOODY, A. & MEENTEMEYER, R. K. (2001). Environmental factors influencing spatial patterns of shrub diversity in chaparral, Santa Ynez Mountains, California. *Journal of Vegetation Science* 12, 41–52.
- *MORENO-RUEDA, G. & PIZARRO, M. (2007). The relative influence of climate, environmental heterogeneity, and human population on the distribution of vertebrate species richness in south-eastern Spain. Acta Oecologica 32, 50–58.
- *MOSER, D., ZECHMEISTER, H. G., PLUTZAR, C., SAUBERER, N., WRBKA, T. & GRABHERR, G. (2002). Landscape patch shape complexity as an effective measure for plant species richness in rural landscapes. *Landscape Ecology* 17, 657–669.
- *Moss, D. (1978). Diversity of woodland song-bird populations. Journal of Animal Ecology 47, 521–527.
- *MURAKAMI, K., MAENAKA, H. & MORIMOTO, Y. (2005). Factors influencing species diversity of ferns and fern allies in fragmented forest patches in the Kyoto city area. *Landscape and Urban Planning* **70**, 221–229.
- *NEWMARK, W. D. (1986). Species-area relationship and its determinants for mammals in western North American national parks. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* 28, 83–98.

- NILSSON, S. G. (1979). Density and species richness of some forest bird communities in South Sweden. Oikas 33, 392–401.
- NILSSON, S. G., BENGTSSON, J. & Ås, S. (1988). Habitat diversity or area per se? Species richness of woody plants, carabid beetles and land snails on islands. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 57, 685–704.
- NOGUÉS-BRAVO, D. & ARAÚJO, M. B. (2006). Species richness, area and climate correlates. Global Ecology and Biogeography 15, 452–460.
- *NøHR, H. & JØRGENSEN, A. F. (1997). Mapping of biological diversity in Sahel by means of satellite image analyses and ornithological surveys. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 6, 545–566.
- NOSIL, P. (2012). Ecological Speciation. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- NOVOTNY, V., DROZD, P., MILLER, S. E., KULFAN, M., JANDA, M., BASSET, Y. & WEIBLEN, G. D. (2006). Why are there so many species of herbivorous insects in tropical rainforests? *Science* **313**, 1115–1118.
- *OINDO, B. O., SKIDMORE, A. K. & DE SALVO, P. (2003). Mapping habitat and biological diversity in the Maasai Mara ecosystem. *International Journal of Remote* Sensing 24, 1053-1069.
- *ØKLAND, B., BAKKE, A., HÅGVAR, S. & KVAMME, T. (1996). What factors influence the diversity of saproxylic beetles? A multiscaled study from a spruce forest in southern Norway. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 5, 75–100.
- *OLDELAND, J., WESULS, D., ROCCHINI, D., SCHMIDT, M. & JÜRGENS, N. (2010). Does using species abundance data improve estimates of species diversity from remotely sensed spectral heterogeneity? *Ecological Indicators* 10, 390–396.
- OLIVER, T., ROY, D. B., HILL, J. K., BRERETON, T. & THOMAS, C. D. (2010). Heterogeneous landscapes promote population stability. *Ecology Letters* 13, 473–484.
- OLSON, D. M., DINERSTEIN, E., WIKRAMANAYAKE, E. D., BURGESS, N. D., POWELL, G. V. N., UNDERWOOD, E. C., D'AMICO, J. A., ITOUA, I., STRAND, H. E., MORRISON, J. C., LOUCKS, C. J., ALLNUTT, T. F., RICKETTS, T. H., KURA, Y., LAMOREUX, J. F., WETTENGEL, W. W., HEDAO, P. & KASSEM, K. R. (2001). Terrestrial ecoregions of the world: a new map of life on earth. *BioScience* 51, 933–938.
- ORIANS, G. H. (1969). The number of bird species in some tropical forests. *Ecology* 50, 783–801.
- PALMER, M. W., EARLS, P. G., HOAGLAND, B. W., WHITE, P. S. & WOHLGEMUTH, T. (2002). Quantitative tools for perfecting species lists. *Environmetrics* 13, 121–137.
- *PANITSA, M., TZANOUDAKIS, D., TRIANTIS, K. A. & SFENTHOURAKIS, S. (2006). Patterns of species richness on very small islands: the plants of the Aegean archipelago. *Journal of Biogeography* 33, 1223–1234.
- *PARVIAINEN, M., LUOTO, M. & HEIKKINEN, R. K. (2010). NDVI-based productivity and heterogeneity as indicators of plant-species richness in boreal landscapes. *Boreal Environment Research* 15, 301–318.
- *PEARSON, D. L. (1977). A pantropical comparison of bird community structure on six lowland forest sites. *The Condor* 79, 232–244.
- *PEARSON, S. M. (1993). The spatial extent and relative influence of landscape-level factors on wintering bird populations. *Landscape Ecology* 8, 3–18.
- PEREIRA, J. A. A., OLIVEIRA-FILHO, A. T. & LEMOS-FILHO, J. P. (2007). Environmental heterogeneity and disturbance by humans control much of the tree species diversity of Atlantic montane forest fragments in SE Brazil. *Biodiversity* and Conservation 16, 1761–1784.
- PERFECTO, I. & SNELLING, R. (1995). Biodiversity and the transformation of a tropical agroecosystem: ants in coffee plantations. *Ecological Applications* 5, 1084–1097.
- *PERRV, G., RODDA, G. H., FRITTS, T. H. & SHARP, T. R. (1998). The lizard fauna of Guam's fringing islets: island biogeography, phylogenetic history, and conservation implications. *Global Ecology and Biogeography Letters* 7, 353–365.
- PIANKA, E. R. (1966). Latitudinal gradients in species diversity: a review of concepts. *The American Naturalist* **100**, 33–46.
- PIANKA, E. R. (1967). On lizard species diversity: North American flatland deserts. *Ecology* 48, 333–351.
- *PIANKA, E. R. & HUEY, R. B. (1971). Bird species density in the Kalahari and the Australian deserts. *Koedoe - African Protected Area Conservation and Science* 14, 123–129.
- *PIESSENS, K., HONNAY, O., NACKAERTS, K. & HERMY, M. (2004). Plant species richness and composition of heathland relics in north-western Belgium: evidence for a rescue-effect? *Journal of Biogeography* 31, 1683–1692.
- *PINEDA, E. & HALFFTER, G. (2004). Species diversity and habitat fragmentation: frogs in a tropical montane landscape in Mexico. *Biological Conservation* 117, 499–508.
- POGGIO, S. L., CHANETON, E. J. & GHERSA, C. M. (2010). Landscape complexity differentially affects alpha, beta, and gamma diversities of plants occurring in fencerows and crop fields. *Biological Conservation* 143, 2477–2486.
- *POULSEN, B. O. (2002). Avian richness and abundance in temperate Danish forests: tree variables important to birds and their conservation. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 11, 1551–1566.
- *POWER, D. M. (1972). Numbers of bird species on the California islands. Evolution 26, 451–463.
- *PRIEGO-SANTANDER, A. G., PALACIO-PRIETO, J. L., MORENO-CASASOLA, P., LÓPEZ-PORTILLO, J. & GEISSERT KIENTZ, D. (2004). Heterogeneidad del paisaje y riqueza de flora: su relación en el archipiélago de Camagüey, Cuba. *Interciencia* 29, 138–144.

- *PURTAUF, T., ROSCHEWITZ, I., DAUBER, J., THIES, C., TSCHARNTKE, T. & WOLTERS, V. (2005). Landscape context of organic and conventional farms: influences on carabid beetle diversity. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment* 108, 165–174.
- QIAN, H. & KISSLING, W. D. (2010). Spatial scale and cross-taxon congruence of terrestrial vertebrate and vascular plant species richness in China. *Ecology* 91, 1172–1183.
- *RABINOVICH, J. E. & RAPOPORT, E. H. (1975). Geographical variation of diversity in Argentine passerine birds. *Journal of Biogeography* 2, 141–157.
- *RAHBEK, C., GOTELLI, N. J., COLWELL, R. K., ENTSMINGER, G. L., RANGEL, T. F. L. V. B. & GRAVES, G. R. (2007). Predicting continental-scale patterns of bird species richness with spatially explicit models. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 274, 165–174.
- *REED, T. (1981). The number of breeding landbird species on British islands. Journal of Animal Ecology 50, 613–624.
- VAN RENSBURG, B. J., CHOWN, S. L. & GASTON, K. J. (2002). Species richness, environmental correlates, and spatial scale: a test using South African birds. *The American Naturalist* 159, 566–577.
- *REY BENAVAS, J. M. & SCHEINER, S. M. (2002). Plant diversity, biogeography and environment in Iberia: patterns and possible causal factors. *Journal of Vegetation Science* 13, 245–258.
- *RIBAS, C. R., SCHOEREDER, J. H., PIC, M. & SOARES, S. M. (2003). Tree heterogeneity, resource availability, and larger scale processes regulating arboreal ant species richness. *Austral Ecology* 28, 305–314.
- *RICHERSON, P.J. & LUM, K.-L. (1980). Patterns of plant species diversity in California: relation to weather and topography. *The American Naturalist* 116, 504–536.
- RICKLEFS, R. E. & LOVETTE, I. J. (1999). The roles of island area per se and habitat diversity in the species-area relationships of four Lesser Antillean faunal groups. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 68, 1142–1160.
- *ROGERS, G. & OVERTON, J. (2000). Regional patterns of plant species richness in southern New Zealand. New Zealand Journal of Botany 38, 609–627.
- *ROMPRÉ, G., ROBINSON, W. D., DESROCHERS, A. & ANGEHR, G. (2007). Environmental correlates of avian diversity in lowland Panama rain forests. *Journal of Biogeography* 34, 802–815.
- ROSENZWEIG, M. L. (1995). Species Diversity in Space and Time. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- *ROSENZWEIG, M. L. & WINAKUR, J. (1969). Population ecology of desert rodent communities: habitats and environmental complexity. *Ecology* 50, 558–572.
- *ROWE, R. J. (2009). Environmental and geometric drivers of small mammal diversity along elevational gradients in Utah. *Ecography* 32, 411–422.
- RUGGIERO, A. & HAWKINS, B. A. (2008). Why do mountains support so many species of birds? *Ecography* 31, 306-315.
- SANDEL, B., AGGE, L., DALSGAARD, B., DAVIES, R. G., GASTON, K. J., SUTHERLAND, W. J. & SVENNING, J.-C. (2011). The influence of late quaternary climate-change velocity on species endemism. *Science* 334, 660–664.
- SANDOM, C., DALBY, L., FLØJGAARD, C., KISSLING, W. D., LENOIR, J., SANDEL, B., TRØJELSGAARD, K., EJRNÆS, R. & SVENNING, J.-C. (2013). Mammal predator and prey species richness are strongly linked at macroscales. *Ecology* 94, 1112–1122.
- SCHEINER, S. M. (2013). The ecological literature, an idea-free distribution. *Ecology Letters* 16, 1421–1423.
- SCHEINER, S. M., COX, S. B., WILLIG, M., MITTELBACH, G. G., OSENBERG, C. & KASPARI, M. (2000). Species richness, species-area curves and Simpson's paradox. *Evolutionary Ecology Research* 2, 791–802.
- SCHEINER, S. M. & JONES, S. (2002). Diversity, productivity and scale in Wisconsin vegetation. Evolutionary Ecology Research 4, 1097–1117.
- SCHERBER, C., EISENHAUER, N., WEISSER, W. W., SCHMID, B., VOIGT, W., FISCHER, M., SCHULZE, E.-D., ROSCHER, C., WEIGELT, A., ALLAN, E., BESZLER, H., BONKOWSKI, M., BUCHMANN, N., BUSCOT, F., CLEMENT, L. W., EBELING, A., ENGELS, C., HALLE, S., KERTSCHER, I., KLEIN, A.-M., KOLLER, R., KONIG, S., KOWALSKI, E., KUMMER, V., KUU, A., LANGE, M., LAUTERBACH, D., MIDDELHOFF, C., MIGUNOVA, V. D., MILCU, A., MULLER, R., PARTSCH, S., PETERMANN, J. S., RENKER, C., ROTTSTOCK, T., SABAIS, A., SCHEU, S., SCHUMACHER, J., TEMPERTON, V. M. & TSCHARNTKE, T. (2010). BOITOM-up effects of plant diversity on multitrophic interactions in a biodiversity experiment. *Nature* 468, 553–556.
- *SCHMIDT, M. H., ROSCHEWITZ, I., THIES, C. & TSCHARNTKE, T. (2005). Differential effects of landscape and management on diversity and density of ground-dwelling farmland spiders. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 42, 281–287.
- *ŠERIĆ JELASKA, L., JEŠOVNIK, A., JELASKA, S. D., PIRNAT, A., KUČINIĆ, M. & DURBEŠIĆ, P. (2010). Variations of carabid beetle and ant assemblages, and their morpho-ecological traits within natural temperate forests in Medvednica Nature Park. Šumarski List 134, 475–486.
- SETO, K. C., FLEISHMAN, E., FAY, J. P. & BETRUS, C. J. (2004). Linking spatial patterns of bird and butterfly species richness with Landsat TM derived NDVI. *International Journal of Remote Sensing* 25, 4309–4324.
- *SFENTHOURAKIS, S. (1996). The species-area relationship of terrestrial isopods (Isopoda; Oniscidea) from the Aegean archipelago (Greece): a comparative study. *Global Ecology and Biogeography Letters* 5, 149–157.

- SHMIDA, A. & WILSON, M. V. (1985). Biological determinants of species diversity. *Journal of Biogeography* 12, 1–20.
- SIMPSON, G. G. (1964). Species density of North American recent mammals. Systematic Zoology 13, 57–73.
- *SMITH, F. D. M., MAY, R. M. & HARVEY, P. H. (1994). Geographical ranges of Australian mammals. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 63, 441–450.
- *SOUSA, J. P., DA GAMA, M. M., PINTO, C., KEATING, A., CALHÔA, F., LEMOS, M., CASTRO, C., LUZ, T., LEITÃO, P. & DIAS, S. (2004). Effects of land-use on Collembola diversity patterns in a Mediterranean landscape. *Pedobiologia* 48, 609–622.
- STEFFAN-DEWENTER, I. (2002). Landscape context affects trap-nesting bees, wasps, and their natural enemies. *Ecological Entomology* 27, 631–637.
- STEIN, A., GERSTNER, K. & KREFT, H. (2014). Environmental heterogeneity as a universal driver of species richness across taxa, biomes and spatial scales. *Ecology Letters* 17, 866–880.
- STEWART, A., JOHN, E. & HUTCHINGS, M. (2000). The world is heterogeneous: ecological consequences of living in a patchy environment. In *The Ecological Consequences of Environmental Heterogeneity: the 40th Symposium of the British Ecological Society* (eds M. J. HUTCHINGS, E. A. JOHN and A. J. A. STEWART), pp. 1–8. Blackwell Science, Ltd., Oxford.
- *STILES, A. & SCHEINER, S. M. (2010). A multi-scale analysis of fragmentation effects on remnant plant species richness in Phoenix, Arizona. *Journal of Biogeography* 37, 1721–1729.
- *ST-LOUIS, V., PIDGEON, A. M., CLAYTON, M. K., LOCKE, B. A., BASH, D. & RADELOFF, V. C. (2009). Satellite image texture and a vegetation index predict avian biodiversity in the Chihuahuan Desert of New Mexico. *Ecography* 32, 468–480.
- *ST-LOUIS, V., PIDGEON, A. M., RADELOFF, V. C., HAWBAKER, T. J. & CLAYTON, M. K. (2006). High-resolution image texture as a predictor of bird species richness. *Remote Sensing of Environment* **105**, 299–312.
- *STRATHMANN, K. S. (2005). Local and landscape influences on meadow butterfly communities in northeastern Sierra Nevada. MSc Thesis: San Francisco State University.
- *SZABO, N. D., ALGAR, A. C. & KERR, J. T. (2009). Reconciling topographic and climatic effects on widespread and range-restricted species richness. *Global Ecology* and Biogeography 18, 735–744.
- TABOADA, Á., TÁRREGA, R., CALVO, L., MARCOS, E., MARCOS, J. A. & SALGADO, J. M. (2010). Plant and carabid beetle species diversity in relation to forest type and structural heterogeneity. *European Journal of Forest Research* 129, 31–45.
- TAMME, R., HHESALU, İ., LAANISTO, L., SZAVA-KOVATS, R. & PÄRTEL, M. (2010). Environmental heterogeneity, species diversity and co-existence at different spatial scales. *Journal of Vegetation Science* 21, 796–801.
- *TATTERSFIELD, P., WARUI, C. M., SEDDON, M. B. & KIRINGE, J. W. (2001). Land-snail faunas of afromontane forests of Mount Kenya, Kenya: ecology, diversity and distribution patterns. *Journal of Biogeography* 28, 843–861.
- *TERBORGH, J. (1977). Bird species diversity on an Andean elevational gradient. Ecology 58, 1007–1019.
- TEWS, J., BROSE, U., GRIMM, V., TIELBÖRGER, K., WICHMANN, M. C., SCHWAGER, M. & JELTSCH, F. (2004). Animal species diversity driven by habitat heterogeneity/diversity: the importance of keystone structures. *Journal of Biogeography* 31, 79–92.
- *THOMPSON, L. S. (1978). Species abundance and habitat relations of an insular montane avifauna. *Condor* 80, 1–14.
- TRIANTIS, K. A., MYLONAS, M., LIKA, K. & VARDINOYANNIS, K. (2003). A model for the species-area-habitat relationship. *Journal of Biogeography* **30**, 19–27.
- TRIANTIS, K. A., MYLONAS, M., WEISER, M. D., LIKA, K. & VARDINOYANNIS, K. (2005). Species richness, environmental heterogeneity and area: a case study based on land snails in Skyros archipelago (Aegean Sea, Greece). *Journal of Biogeography* 32, 1727–1735.
- TRIANTIS, K. A., NOGUÉS-BRAVO, D., HORTAL, J., BORGES, P. A. V., ADSERSEN, H., FERNÁNDEZ-PALACIOS, J. M., ARAÚJO, M. B. & WHITTAKER, R. J. (2008a). Measurements of area and the (island) species-area relationship: new directions for an old pattern. *Oikos* 117, 1555–1559.
- *TRIANTIS, K. A., SFENTHOURAKIS, S. & MYLONAS, M. (2008b). Biodiversity patterns of terrestrial isopods from two island groups in the Aegean Sea (Greece): Species-area relationship, small island effect, and nestedness. *Ecoscience* 15, 169–181.
- TURNER, M. G., GARDNER, R. H. & O'NEILL, R. V. (2001). Landscape Ecology in Theory and Practice: Pattern and Process. Springer, New York.
- *VANBERGEN, A. J., WATT, A. D., MITCHELL, R., TRUSCOTT, A. M., PALMER, S. C. F., IVITS, E., EGGLETON, P., JONES, T. H. & SOUSA, J. P. (2007). Scale-specific correlations between habitat heterogeneity and soil fauna diversity along a landscape structure gradient. *Oecologia* 153, 713–725.
- *VANBERGEN, A. J., WOODCOCK, B. A., WATT, A. D. & NIEMELÄ, J. (2005). Effect of land-use heterogeneity on carabid communities at the landscape scale. *Ecography* 28, 3–16.
- *VANDERPOORTEN, A. & ENGELS, P. (2003). Patterns of bryophyte diversity and rarity at a regional scale. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 12, 545–553.
- VELLEND, M. (2008). Effects of diversity on diversity: consequences of competition and facilitation. Oikos 117, 1075–1085.

- *WEIBULL, A.-C., ÖSTMAN, Ö. & GRANQVIST, Å. (2003). Species richness in agroecosystems: the effect of landscape, habitat and farm management. *Biodiversity* and Conservation 12, 1335–1355.
- WEIGELT, P., JETZ, W. & KREFT, H. (2013). Bioclimatic and physical characterization of the world's islands. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 110, 15307–15312.
- *WELTER-SCHULTES, F. W. & WILLIAMS, M. R. (1999). History, island area and habitat availability determine land snail species richness of Aegean islands. *Journal of Biogeography* 26, 239–249.
- *VAN DER WERFF, H. (1983). Species number, area and habitat diversity in the Galapagos islands. Vegetatio 54, 167-175.
- *WHITE, P. S. & MILLER, R. I. (1988). Topographic models of vascular plant richness in the southern Appalachian high peaks. *Journal of Ecology* 76, 192–199.
- WHITTAKER, R. J. (2010). Meta-analyses and mega-mistakes: calling time on metaanalysis of the species richness-productivity relationship. *Ecology* 91, 2522–2533.
- WHITTAKER, R. J., WILLIS, K. J. & FIELD, R. (2001). Scale and species richness: towards a general, hierarchical theory of species diversity. *Journal of Biogeography* 28, 453–470.
- WILLIAMS, C. B. (1964). Patterns in the Balance of Nature and Related Problems in Quantitative Ecology. Academic Press Inc., London.
- *WILLIAMS, G. R. (1982). Species-area and similar relationships of insects and vascular plants on the southern outlying islands of New Zealand. *New Zealand Journal of Ecology* 5, 86–96.
- *WILLIAMS, S. E., MARSH, H. & WINTER, J. (2002). Spatial scale, species diversity, and habitat structure: small mammals in Australian tropical rain forest. *Ecology* 83, 1317–1329.
- WILLIS, K. J. & WHITTAKER, R. J. (2002). Species diversity scale matters. Science 295, 1245–1248.
- *WILLSON, M. F. (1974). Avian community organization and habitat structure. *Ecology* 55, 1017–1029.
- WILSON, S. D. (2000). Heterogeneity, diversity and scale in plant communities. In The Ecological Consequences of Environmental Heterogeneity: the 40th Symposium of the British Ecological Society (eds M. J. HUTCHINGS, E. A. JOHN and A. J. A. STEWART), pp. 53–69. Blackwell Science, Ltd., Oxford.

Anke Stein and Holger Kreft

- WOLTERS, V., BENGTSSON, J. & ZAITSEV, A. S. (2006). Relationship among the species richness of different taxa. *Ecology* 87, 1886–1895.
- *WRIGHT, M. G. & SAMWAYS, M. J. (1998). Insect species richness tracking plant species richness in a diverse flora: gall-insects in the Cape Floristic Region, South Africa. *Oecologia* 115, 427–433.
- *YUE, T.-X. & LI, Q.-Q. (2010). Relationship between species diversity and ecotope diversity. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1195, E40–E51.

*ZHAO, S. & FANG, J. (2006). Patterns of species richness for vascular plants in China's nature reserves. *Diversity and Distributions* 12, 364–372.

VI. SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found in the online version of this article.

Fig. S1. Frequency of calculation methods in studies and measures.

Fig. S2. Proportion of studies using each calculation method in combination with a particular noun for terms for EH.

Fig. S3. Proportion of calculation methods per decade.

Table S1. Measures and measure variants of environmental heterogeneity.

Appendix S1. Literature search in *Web of Science*.

Appendix S2. References.

(Received 5 July 2013; revised 5 July 2014; accepted 9 July 2014; published online 7 August 2014)